

# Women and the Ballot: Unraveling the Motivations Behind Female Support for the Justice and Development Party (AKP) in Turkey

Bakiye Haney

Master's Thesis — Spring 2024

Supervisor: Assistant Professor Suen Wang

Character Count: 108.950 (45 pages)

Aalborg University — Master's in International Relations

Department of Politics and Society

Faculty of Social Sciences and Humanities

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to begin by expressing my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Suen

Wang, for her invaluable support and meaningful feedback throughout my writing process.

Her guidance provided me with the direction I needed to and carried me through this process.

I would also like to extend my heartfelt thanks to my friends and family for their constant support during the rough patches and long nights of research. I am especially grateful to my interviewees, who welcomed me into their homes and shared their experiences and perspectives with trust and openness.

Finally, I wish to offer my sincerest thanks to my fiancé, Enes. Your encouragement and continuous support have been a source of motivation; I couldn't have done it without you.

#### **Abstract**

During the early years following Turkey's foundation as a republic, the country became renowned for its advancements in women's rights, implementing progressive laws to establish gender equality. The Justice and Development Party (AKP) which came to power in 2002, early on established a focus on representing and benefiting women devoted to Islam whose everyday lives oftentimes take place in the periphery of Turkish society. Despite recent setbacks on gender and women-related issues, such as the withdrawal from the Istanbul Convention and the continuously rising number of femicides, AKP has managed to maintain its high rate of female supporters.

Consequently, this thesis aims to explore the factors that influence Turkish women in supporting and aligning with the AKP by focusing on factors like politically significant events, socio-economic status, media influence, and the leadership of the current president, Recep Tayyip Erdoğan. By understanding the importance of these influences, the study contributes to the field and discourse on the dynamics of gender and politics in the AKP while addressing the gaps in existing research regarding female political conservatism.

By adopting an interpretivist philosophy, the study focuses on understanding human experiences and meanings through subjective narrative. Additionally, through employing a qualitative case study design and utilizing semi-structured interviews and anonymous web surveys, in-depth data in the shape of transcripts collected from six different women from diverse socio-economic backgrounds, who are all supporters of the AKP, provided for a comprehensive dataset. The dataset was analysed through a deductive thematic analysis and secondary data further supplemented the analysis.

The study found the most loyal female AKP supporters to be typically religious housewives with lower education levels. Political alignment was found the be prominently influenced by the socializing agents of socio-economic status and level of education. It was established that a lower level of education together with a lower socioeconomic status correlates with a higher support for AKP due to the social welfare programs and policies of the party. Their collective identity was found to be reinforced through religion and significant political events, such as the lifted headscarf ban and the populist rhetoric in the media, consistently shaping women's political affiliations with the AKP.

The findings of this study hold significant implications for the understanding of these dynamics within the country's political landscape and political support amongst Turkish women by highlighting the role of socioeconomic factors, religion, and rhetoric through the media. The study additionally emphasized the importance of religion in shaping their social identity and its role in shaping political loyalties as the study established AKP's focus on representing and promoting religious values as an important factor in creating a collective identity among its supporters.

For future research, the study necessitates the importance of exploring the younger and more educated demographics' political behavior as their motivations for political alignment with AKP might differ from the older demographic. It is crucial to understand this shift, especially considering the recent changes in the political landscape of Turkey where AKP's dominance has begun to be challenged. In conclusion, investigating these dynamics can further provide insight into the evolving voter behavior and provide an understanding about the motivations behind it.

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	1
Historical Background and Context on Turkish Politics	4
Literature Review and Theory	11
Exploration of the Existing Literature	
Examining the Voter Profile	
Marginalization From Society	
Representation and Inclusion of the Periphery  Erdoğan the 'Savior'	
Research Gap	
Theoretical ImplicationsPolitical Socialization Theory	
Social Identity Theory	
Methodology	
Research Philosophy	
Research Approach & Design	27
Research methods	28
Data Collection, Selection & Sampling Strategy	28
Data Analysis & Coding	31
Ethical Concerns	31
Limitations	32
Analysis	33
Demographic Overview Over the Study Cohort	34
Religious Influence and Political Events	35
Erdoğan's Populist Discourse and the Instrumentalization of Media	39
Women's issues and representative ideology	43
Discussion	49
AKP's Appeal to the Socio-economically Marginalized	49
AKP As the Defender of Islamic Values	51
Conclusion	54
References	57
Appendices	
Appendix A. Interview Guide	
Appendix B. Interview Transcripts	
Appendix C. Survey Questions	
Appendix D. Survey Responses	

# Introduction

Turkey, when it was founded as a republic, gained attention and recognition worldwide as being a country pioneering women's rights. The revolutionary Turkish Civil Code was introduced in 1926 and some of its reforms included abolishing polygamy, granting women legal equality in marriage, inheritance, and divorce while additionally providing equality in political representation as women gained the right to vote and stand for municipal elections (Kadının İnsan Hakları, 2018). As evident through the multiple feminist waves in history, the efforts for gender equality have never stopped. Feminists, by definition, are individuals who believe women should be allowed the same rights, power, and opportunities as men and be treated the same way (Cambridge, n.d.), and have through three feminist waves fought for women's suffrage, questioned traditional gender roles and coined the term 'intersectionality' to bring a more holistic approach to the debate. Worldwide, we have felt the effects of the fourth wave of feminism during the last decade through feminist movements such as #metoo, the current 4B movement in Korea, pro-life discussions, and the Istanbul Convention, which are various elements that have contributed to raising awareness and bringing forward continuing demand for equality (Human Rights Careers, n.d.).

The current government of Turkey, ruled by the Justice and Development Party (AKP) since 2002, has made efforts to contribute to the fight of women and increase the representation of especially women of Islamic faith and those of lower socioeconomic class. Through the ratification of the Convention on the Elimination of all forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) in 2002, the country took an important step to prevent femicide and reduce honor killings, as well as implementing legislative reforms in accordance with the Copenhagen criteria in order to take a step in the direction of accession to the European

Union (EUR-Lex, n.d.). This involved implementing gender quotas, positive discrimination as well as recognizing marital rape (Yalçın, n.d.). Furthermore, in 2012, they introduced Law no. 6284, namely the Law to Protect Family and Prevent Violence against Women, which aimed to protect women and individuals affected by stalking, violence, and those at risk of violence (Laws Turkey, n.d.).

However, there has been a shift in AKP's narrative and stance on gender equality and women's rights during recent years, leading to harsh criticism and worry on both a national and international level (Unal, 2023). Despite being the first country to sign and ratify the Istanbul Convention, which focuses on combating and preventing violence against women and domestic violence, President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan issued a decree in March 2021, making Turkey the first country to withdraw from the convention (Aksoy, 2021). In addition to this, the number of women falling victim to femicide has been on a constant rise over the years, with recent years documenting over 400 femicides annually (Zambrana, 2021), with a lack of enforcement and prosecution of offenders who are proven to have committed domestic violence, leaving the survivors at a constant risk (HRW, 2022). Taking this into consideration, it is fascinating to observe that approximately 50% of the voters of AKP, the ruling party of Turkey, consist of women (Uncu, 2018). If the AKP is doubling down on the equality and rights of women, how come they are still the first choice of millions of Turkish women?

As a result of the highly polarized political climate and divided segments of voters in Turkey, certain biases have come into existence regarding the supporters of the different political parties. The women of AKP, for instance, are often perceived and labeled as uncultured, uneducated, highly religious, and anti-feminist (Ensonhaber, 2023). Even though

they constitute a massive part of the population, their experiences and reasons for politically aligning with AKP are severely underexplored. Without sufficient research and representation of the women's own experiences, we fail to understand their point of view.

At this point, the AKP has become a part of daily conversation in Turkey, as politics is a hot topic due to various issues, such as the currently failing economy and the millions of refugees that the country has accepted (Osterlund, 2022). However, as previously mentioned, the topic of the women of AKP is neither widely discussed nor researched. The notion of conservatism does exist in literature, but often in the shape of studies on Western countries and among younger generations (Lodders & Weldon, 2019). As a consequence, finding data and research on Turkey as a geographical starting point, focusing on the AKP with a study cohort consisting of women in support of the AKP is a challenge in and of itself. With a study cohort of such immense size, and with the relevance of politics being a part of daily life in Turkey, as a researcher, I find it important to understand this influential group within the country's population and to break down prejudices. With this research, I contribute to the field of gender studies in terms of the connections between women and conservatism.

Performing research on this specific topic will therefore shed light on the dynamics of politics and gender while providing insights into the evolving discourse on gender equality in Turkey. Understanding the motivations behind the political choices of women in Turkey regarding the AKP, its policies, and rhetoric, contributes to the advancement of theoretical frameworks within international relations as well as deepening the understanding of the intersection of political ideologies with various influential factors. To ensure a holistic and comprehensive approach to this research, I will first discuss the elements important in understanding the contextual history that has shaped Turkey into what it is today. This

includes discussing the politics of marginalization based on religion, the rise of conservative parties in Turkey, and their appealing party politics. The AKP will be a central actor in the examination, but more importantly, I will focus on Turkish women and initiate a conversation to gain an insight into their reasons and influences for support.

To comprehensively understand the factors leading to political alignment with the AKP, I have defined the research question as follows:

What are the main factors that have influenced and shaped Turkish women's political identities and affiliations with the Justice and Development Party?

# **Historical Background and Context on Turkish Politics**

This chapter aims to provide an overview of the relative historical background of Turkey, with a focus on the political landscape. By further discussing certain aspects of Turkish politics, this chapter establishes a contextual framework to clarify the ideas and concepts discussed in the later chapters.

Turkey, officially named the **Republic of Türkiye**, is a relatively new country as it was established on the 29th of October 1923 by the founder and first president, Mustafa Kemal Atatürk, after the War of Independence that surged as a result of the partition and fall of the Ottoman Empire (Shaw & Shaw, 1977). At the time, a modernization project that was "a total project, embracing and internalizing all the cultural dimensions that made Europe modern" was initiated by the state elites, meaning that religious notions had to be overcome (Keyder, 1997, p. 37). The modernization project was seen by Atatürk to be a milestone in

Turkey's progression to a contemporary civilization as it meant cutting off the ties to the Ottoman regime and its practices (Kocatürk, n.d.). To carry out this project, a single-party regime was in place until 1945 on the grounds that the governing military-bureaucratic elite knew what was best for the rest of the people (Arat, 1998), creating a 'revolution from above' (Rabasa & Larrabee, 2008, p.32). Currently, the country is officially a constitutional republic led by a system of presidential democracy, with the main legislative body being the parliament, namely the Grand National Assembly, representing the 81 provinces of Turkey. The national government is collectively run by the president, parliament, and the judiciary entity. The parliament is constituted of 600 members who are elected with a party-list proportional representation system to serve a five-year term. A political party must win at least 7% of the national vote to be represented in the parliament (Dalay & Toremark, 2024).

The current president, Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, is both the leader and co-founder of the governing political party that is mainly discussed in this paper, the Justice and Development Party, abbreviated as AKP and officially named AK Party. Erdoğan's most notable positions in his political career began as the mayor of Istanbul between the years 1994 to 1998, where he later rose to serve as a prime minister between the years of 2003 and 2014, representing the AKP and eventually becoming president after Abdullah Gül, who served as the president from 2007 to 2014 as well as being one of the co-founders of the AKP (BBC, 2023). Gül was also a previous member of the Islamist Virtue Party, which together with members from the social conservative Motherland Party, came together and formed the AKP in 2001 (Gül, n.d.). In its early days, the party was defined as pro-European, center-right, and liberal-conservative, different from its predecessors (Yeşilada, 2023).

Following the latest elections in 2023, AKP currently holds 265 chairs with 50 of the chairs being occupied by women. The main opposition, which is the Republican People's Party (CHP), holds 126 chairs with 24 being occupied by women, and the pro-Kurdish party, Peoples' Equality and Democracy Party (DEM) holds 57 chairs with almost half of them, 27 seats, being occupied by women. The remaining parties hold 50 chairs or less (Türkiye Büyük Millet Meclisi, n.d.). The number of women in parliament has only increased within the last two decades: by the end of the 1990s, only 2% of the seats in the parliament were occupied by women. This number rose to 4% in the early 2000s, 9% in the following election, then 14% and 17% and currently, 20% (Ergül, 2018). Despite being designed as a parliamentary democracy, the country has experienced several military coups throughout the years which has interrupted democratic processes (Dalay & Toremark, 2024). The first coup took place in 1960, an era where the tension between the two leading political parties where high as a result of the ruling Democratic Party's policies. The party had started to loosen some of the regulations regarding religion, such as allowing for the reopening of thousands of mosques, opening schools for religious personnel as well as legalizing the call to prayer in the mosques to be in Arabic rather than in Turkish. As a result of a failing economy and devaluation of currency, together with public unrest and attacks; another coup was executed in 1971 and the military demanded a government inspired by Atatürk's views. A third coup was carried out merely 9 years later in 1980, on grounds of growing instability and the inability to restore the economy and prevent the violent clashes of the polarized right- and left-wing groups. This led to thousands of arrests and dozens of executions in the following year. Then in 1997, a "post-modern" coup was carried out by the military in the shape of recommendations to the government which was run by a coalition led by Erbakan, the leader of the conservative Welfare Party (RP). The Welfare Party would eventually be dissolved, and Erbakan was forced to resign, but not before having to implement a headscarf ban at

universities and compulsory education program for the prevention of enrollment in religious schools (Al Jazeera, 2016; Daily Sabah, 2021). In 2016, a failed coup attempt took place when a faction of the military tried to overthrow President Erdoğan. During the attempted coup, bombings took place in the capital Ankara, and tanks roamed the streets of Istanbul. The government blamed Fethullah Gülen, a cleric and leader of a religious movement, for orchestrating the failed coup (Ibrahim, 2022).

The current constitution was adopted in 1982 following the 1980 coup and then revised and approved in 2017 by a national referendum. The most important and noteworthy reform of the constitution in 2017, was the abolishment of the Prime Minister, designating the President, Erdoğan, as both the head of the state and of the government. Showcasing another example of democratic backsliding in Turkey, this period saw several people opposed to the amendment being arrested, as well as heavy restrictions on media access for the opposition (Çınar, 2018). This reform was supported by the AK Party and the far-right Nationalist Action Party (MHP) and transformed Turkey into a presidential system, transferring executive authority to the president, allowing him to appoint members to the Supreme Board and Constitutional Court, as well as to appoint a cabinet, form and regulate ministries, in addition to the authority to declare State of Emergency. The arguments for these changes were that the system, at that time, was holding Turkey's progress back and that an elected president shouldn't have to go through bureaucracy with a prime minister to enact laws. A notable change to the Parliament was also included, with the reform now requiring a two-thirds majority of the MPs vote to put the president on trial if needed (Sarac, 2018).

The following year, 2018, both the parliamentary and presidential elections were held simultaneously (Al Jazeera, 2023). As a result of the referendum held the year prior, the seats

in the parliament had increased from 550 to 600. Early on that year, the AKP, together with the MHP, proposed an electoral alliance law that would allow parties to form alliances and be grouped together on the ballot paper, ensuring that parties who usually were unable to surpass the 10% threshold would secure a place in the parliament as long as the alliance in total got more than 10% of the votes. With this change, voters could vote for an alliance rather than a party if wished, and unverified ballot papers were changed to be included in the final count at elections (Evrensel, 2018). With this, two main alliances were formed. The People's Alliance was formed between the AKP and the MHP, who had earlier stated they would support the reelection of Erdoğan, which was seen to be the reason for the law on electoral alliances to be put forward in the beginning. The opposition became the Nation Alliance, formed by the Republican People's Party (CHP), the Iyi Party, the Felicity Party, and the Democrat Party (Duran & Öztürk, 2019). After being defeated in the 2023 elections, the Nation Alliance dissolved (Hürriyet, 2023).

With the AKP becoming the ruling power, Turkey initially experienced democratic deepening due to actions such as efforts to enter the European Union by making amendments to adhere to the Copenhagen criteria as previously mentioned (Goff-Taylor, 2017). In recent years, this has changed with concerns being raised regarding democratic backsliding and arguments that the country is shifting towards a more authoritarian regime, especially after the failed 2016 coup where there were extensive purges in military, judiciary, and civil service as well as crackdowns on media and civil society (Tombuş, n.d.). As a result of the coup, the government declared a state of emergency for over 2 years, giving them the ability to bypass the parliament and govern by decree, meaning they could instrumentalize the force of law without any oversight or approval. Together with some innocent individuals, the government expelled anyone who had any ties to the community of Gülen at all, no matter

how distant these relations actually were. This included over a hundred thousand individuals, thousands of whom were academics and representing the opposition or vocal about the Kurdish issue. According to Çınar (2018, p. 152), over 1500 civil society organizations and 150 media outlets were shut down, and multiple companies' managements were taken over by trustees of the government. Hence, Turkey is currently often described as a hybrid competitive authoritarian regime that is undermined by the state's actions (Stelgias, 2015). With the majority of the state institutions under control by the AKP through the imposition of reforms on the military and judiciary establishments, the criteria necessitated for a country to be democratic are frequently violated. Additionally, the political parties hold unequal grounds as a result of lack of representation due to restricted media coverage, as well as the imprisonment of various politicians (Stelgias, 2015). One may go as far as to argue that Turkey is in the process of transforming into an autocracy as a result of the strengthening presidential power as a result of the 2017 referendum which compromised the judiciary's independence. Additionally, through the continuous suppression of civil society and the forced shutdowns, AKP has managed to maintain and establish government-controlled organizations that protect the democratic façade while marginalizing any critical voice and opposition Tombuş, E. (n.d.). Throughout the years, Erdoğan has emphasized the AKP as a 'conservative democratic' party and refused labels that brand them as Islamist, despite international media and writers describing it as such, and as right-wing populists, and increasingly social conservative (Çağliyan-İçener, 2009).

With Turkey being a secular country, any promotion of Islamism by political parties, together with shariah law which in political settings refers to Islam's legal system, is strictly prohibited in the constitution (Republic of Turkey, 1982). The AKP has however, persistently increased taxes on alcohol as well as increased the regulations regarding abortion, and

Erdoğan has executed initiatives such as attempting to criminalize adultery in 2004 (Reuters, n.d.; Tremblay, 2014). As a result, attempts to ban the AKP as a political party has occurred twice on account of abusing law and justice as well as violating the separation of religion and state (Selvi, 2021). The AKP has additionally been accused of instrumentalizing political Islam, which roots in Turkish politics predate the AKP era, all the way back to the 70s, despite of Erdoğan's reassurance over the years, that the party is not Islamist (Yeşilada, 2023). The instrumentalization of political Islam has been argued to be evident through several reforms brought on by the AKP, such as making 'religion and values' courses in public schools mandatory as well as expanding religious middle schools, where students' education is focused on religion; students who would later be employed in the state bureaucracy (Yesilada, 2023, p.599).

During the first decade in power, despite protests happening around election times (DW, 2007), the AKP managed to secure the majority votes every time up until 2015, when it lost its status as the majority party (Letsch & Traynor, 2015) and in 2019, it lost Istanbul and Ankara for the first time, two of the most important and biggest cities in the country (Uras, 2019). While conducting the research for this study, Turkey experienced a local election on the 31st of March 2024, which had notable results since the CHP came first for the first time since 1977, while the AKP, for the first time since its foundation, did not. As a result, cities that make up 64% of the population are currently governed by mayors representing the CHP (Le Monde, 2024).

# **Literature Review and Theory**

In a general sense, this research focuses on the question of why Turkish women vote for AKP. By identifying certain themes related to the research topic, I aim to explore the related existing academic research, the patterns, and identify gaps. The chapter will serve as a foundation to understand the complex context of the relationship between the AKP and Turkish women. It is divided into several sections that are each dedicated to different dimensions of the topic, such as the existing literature on relevant political history of Turkey and how it led to an increased vote for the right; the AKP's stance and ideology on issues related to women, as well as the influence of certain ideas represented in the respective theories.

# **Exploration of the Existing Literature**

#### **Examining the Voter Profile**

Nationwide, Turkish women have been able to vote and run for office since 1934, with 18 women being elected to the Turkish Parliament in 1935 (White, 2003). The voters' statistics for the 2023 presidential and parliamentary elections show that nationally, approximately 61 out of the 82 million citizens of Turkey were registered as voters, with women making up 50,5% and men, 49,5% of the voters. Out of those, approximately 54 million used their right to vote, with 26 million of them voting for Erdoğan as a president and 23 million voting for Kemal Kılıçdaroğlu, the main opposition representing The Republican People's Party, abbreviated as CHP. For the parliamentary elections, the AKP received 18,5 million votes and the CHP came second with 13 million votes. Uncu (2018) further assesses that in 2017, half the voters of AKP were women and has been so at least between the years 2010 and 2017.

When it comes to the voter profile, the usual AKP voter is generally somewhat religious, often more rather than less. Fidrmuc & Tunalı (2016) performed a study on Turkish men and women concerning the gender gap in their voting behavior in the years 2002 and 2007 through an empirical analysis based on individual survey data gathered from the the European Social Survey (ESS). Their research established education and religiosity as the main factors of voting for both genders, with increased religiosity correlating to increased support for the AKP, and increased formal education leading to lower support. As stated in their research, the study they conducted was one of the first ones performed in their field in regard to analyzing gender differences in voting behavior in Turkey and hence is an important contribution to the field. Çaha & Bayyurt (2021) make similar statements regarding their study on women's voting behavior in Turkey and highlight the fact that such studies are sparse. Similarly, their findings confirm what Fidrmuc & Tunalı (2016) previously argued, that religiousness is a recurring influence on voting.

Uncu (2018) presents a similar study on the voter segments of Turkey in light of the 2017 referendum. He establishes that approximately 50% of the AKP voters consist of women with the majority being in the age group of 33-48. Of these women, a whole 37% identify as housewives and do not participate in the workforce. He confirms the previously discussed studies in terms of level of education as his data indicates that 66% of the general AKP voters have a low degree of education, having obtained either a primary or middle school diploma. He further verifies the theory that the AKP voters come from lower-class families with lower education, as approximately 90% of the AKP voters' fathers have the same degree of lower education.

#### **Marginalization From Society**

The Republican People's Party (CHP) was founded by Mustafa Kemal Atatürk, Turkey's first president and founder. In other words, the CHP is the oldest political party in Turkey and is currently the AKP's main opposition (Erdemandi, 2020). It is founded in the principle of Kemalism, an 'ideology' based on the ideas of Atatürk, and includes 'the Six Arrows', namely republicanism, reformism, laicism, populism, nationalism, and statism (Harvard, n.d.). Republicanism was referred to as the only path after the fall of the Ottoman Empire and the way of reorganizing Turkish society. Reformism at the time referred to a comprehensive transformation including planned reforms while urging future leaders to continue with a reformist mindset to ensure any obstacles could be overcome. Laicism or secularism was emphasized as previously discussed through the modernization era as well as through Atatürk's speeches where he urged the Turkish people to 'purify their knowledge 'in the light of actual science". Populism was introduced as a concept to promote and sustain unity following the Turkish War of Independence. This meant abolishing certain notions from the Ottoman Empire such as various privileged titles, while granting women the right to vote. Nationalism was seen as a form of patriotism that could allow ethnically diverse groups to feel a sense of collectivity with the rest of the citizens. Last but not least, statism, or etatism, refers to state intervention in "all necessary spheres" and its role and responsibility of organizing and finding solutions to the problems of the nation. (Perger, 2023, p. 35-39).

In the light of these Six Arrows, CHP during its initial years following the republic's foundation, introduced comprehensive reforms inspired by Swiss and Italian legal and penal codes. Consequently, some of the achievements were women's suffrage, strict secularism, and a shift in the written script from Arabic to Latin (Erdemandi, 2020). As a result of the strict secularism, women wearing a headscarf started facing issues in educational institutions such

as having their headscarves forcibly removed, and in 1972 in the Official Gazette, it was declared that female teachers should have their heads uncovered while on duty. After the coup in 1980, a 'public clothing regulation' was implemented, banning the headscarf from public institutions as it was deemed incompatible with secularism. As a result, women wearing headscarves working in for instance educational and political institutions were banned, and those who didn't comply would be expelled. Subsequently, in 1997, headscarves were banned from all educational institutions (Roznai & Yolcu, 2012). This issue became one of the important subjects for the AKP and the current president, Erdoğan, which were gaining power, in the early 2000s (Akboga, 2020).

Religiosity is in other words an important notion in connection to current party alignment as seen in history, the more religious citizens experienced marginalization for decades, and women in particular were excluded from certain institutions. This may serve as an influence that plays a role in terms of political alignment with the AKP, since they presented themselves as a party that invited the marginalized groups back to society with promises of restoring their right to religious expression. Rabasa & Larrabee (2008) point out the Kemalist revolution, the top-down enforced secularization and modernization, as an important impact and leading cause of the current political atmosphere of Turkey, where political Islam is recognized and favored by the majority of the population. The educational system was for instance secularized, and the religious institutions were brought under the control of the state, but these reforms were usually limited to the urban cities, whereas the rural parts of Turkey were overseen, making them isolated from the rest, and left out from the modernization process. For this reason, the divide between the center and periphery grew, with the periphery in the countryside creating their own networks and religious brotherhoods.

#### Representation and Inclusion of the Periphery

In Erdoğan's campaign in 2007, one of his promises was to lift the headscarf ban, which was met with many protests (Jones, 2009). The following year, after a successful election where he was re-elected prime minister, the ban was amended to allow women with headscarves to attend university, which was heavily opposed by the CHP, who asked the constitutional court to block this new amendment. Months later, the constitutional court indeed annulled the proposed amendment, stating it would be against the principles of the constitution to remove the ban (Benli, 2011). It wasn't until 2013 that public institutions started allowing women to wear headscarves through a decree, and the ban on headscarves in high schools ended the following year (Dirini, n.d.). Those in the armed forces could not wear their headscarves until 2017 (Sengupta, 2017). The headscarf discussions and the way the AKP gave importance to it, became a huge factor for women concerning political alignment and support. Through the combination of these factors, the AKP in its initial years, aimed to improve the status of women in society and introduced legislative reforms that toughened penalties for violence against women and marital rape, as well as supporting initiatives taken to increase female participation in the workforce and women's representation in politics (Arat, 2022). The AKP, and Erdoğan in specific, has though been heavily criticized in the latest years, especially after the coup in 2016. Rabasa & Larrabee (2008) provide this political context as their foundation for explaining the increasing right-vote, which became more prevalent in the 50s when the political system shifted to a multiparty democracy, leading to the election of the Democratic Party (DP), which appealed to the periphery and had less strict ideas of Kemalist policies, as well as milder views on Islam. The AKP was not only the continuation of the banned, previous conservative and Islamist political parties of Turkey, but they also managed to secure a massive number of votes by entering politics at the time of the economic crisis; filling a gap left by their predecessor. They further argue that at the time,

the AKP was more of a catch-all party as it received support from various social groups, with the *varoş*, the poor and less-developed parts of the urban, being one of the main sources of support through previously established social networks.

In today's Turkish society, it is commonly assumed that women wearing the headscarf in a religious manner, are also supporters of the AKP, which is an assumption that is based on the earlier Kemalist reforms where the symbol of a modern and secular woman, was that of a woman without a headscarf. Hence, the secular, Kemalist, CHP-leaning women were historically and contemporarily to a certain degree, opposed to the headscarf as it was viewed as an oppositional political attitude towards Kemalism (Bilgiç, 2020). Since the headscarf was banned in Turkey from public institutions in the 70s and onwards, it has become a political divide between the two sides, with the AKP gaining the support of those women who argued for freedom of religious expression in public spaces by promising and executing an amendment to lift the ban in universities in 2007, and public offices in 2013 (Al Jazeera Türk, 2013). Intertwined with religion comes access to education, which is another factor to be taken into consideration for this research. On the subject, Çaha & Bayyurt (2021) highlight how the strictly Islamist population's reluctance to send girls to school changed through the opening of religious high schools in the 1970s. They connect these *imam hatip* schools to the headscarf debate since graduates were consequently prevented from attending university due to their headscarves, and then afterwards, prevented from entering the workforce in the public sector due to wearing religious attire. In the likes of a snowball effect, this part of the population became deprived of both higher education as well as participation in the workforce. Consequently, amongst those who voted for the AKP in 2007, approximately 60% of them had a low education level, with 30% of them having a medium education level and only 10% having a high education level. It is found that women supporting AKP are "more

likely to wear a headscarf, perform salah, fast in Ramadan, read the Quran"; as well as "oppose to flirtation and abortion more than CHP women voters". It is also highly important to take note of their finding on education, that "the biggest part of women who voted for AKP had graduated from primary school" which supports the theory that this specific group of women were deprived of the right to education either due to the headscarf ban, or internal factors such as family (Çaha & Bayyurt, 2021, p.282).

#### Erdoğan the 'Savior'

Uncu (2018) presents another perspective on the case, which is namely the influence of media. His findings show that in 2017, 36% of all AKP voters never used the internet, but rather preferred watching news channels. He found the three most watched news channels to be ATV, TRT and A Haber. ATV, which is one of the most popular TV channels in Turkey, has been described as having a pro-governmental stance as its CEO is the brother of Erdoğan's son-in-law, the former Minister of Treasury and Finance. The second most watched TV channel is TRT, a channel provided by the national public broadcaster. The latter, A Haber, is owned by the same group that owns ATV. Bianet, a Turkey-based press agency that is focused on human rights, established in their 2016 Media Ownership Monitor report that the three mentioned TV channels' owners are all politically affiliated with the AKP government (Bianet, 2016).

The findings of Uncu (2018), additionally showcase a devotion to Erdoğan, with 46% of the AKP voters listing ''leader-driven'' as their answer to their primary influence on their voting choice (p.26). Furthermore, to the question ''Do you have a party that you would never refrain from voting for, no matter the circumstances?", 71% of them answered the AKP. In educated AKP voters, this percentage decreases to 58%. 74% of the AKP voters further replied "Recep Tayyip Erdoğan" to his question of who should lead Turkey, whereas

only 9% replied AKP, reflecting the importance of the leader rather than the party. Yaraş (2019, p.288), who in her study performed interviews with local female AKP politicians, mentions Erdoğan to be 'an object of love' following statements from various interviewees that argued women would fight their husbands if he was opposed to them voting for Erdoğan. Furthermore, this resistance to their husbands, and their independence is referred to as a progressive step they can take thanks to Erdoğan, rather than the AKP. Furthermore, with Erdoğan as a leader and with his support, the interviewees in the study assert their support is merely gratefulness as he has made it possible for them to partake in politics and have a role amongst the men (p.289).

# Research Gap

It wouldn't be unreasonable to argue that there is a classic literature gap on the topic of influences that explain why such an immense number of Turkish women support the AKP. As discussed, there is data that indirectly, to some extent, investigates this phenomenon but there is a direct contextual gap. The study of Çaha & Bayyurt (2021) for instance, focuses on women's voting behavior in relation to both the AKP and the CHP, with a machine learning approach that does provide some information but is focused on a different context. Despite being a recent study from 2021, they emphasize the research gap and acknowledge that this territory is not a prominently discussed one. Altındal (2007) offers a direct insight into the women who work for the women branches of the AKP in her sociological analysis, however, it is focused on their opinions on various issues regarding women rather than why they aligned with the AKP to begin with. Similarly, Yaraş (2019) provides us with another recent study that examines the local female AKP politicians in terms of their experiences with political empowerment through being elected into AKP and working with them from the

inside. What we see is a pattern of focus on those who already work in the party, comparative studies, or articles on the historical context of the vote for the right wing rather than a focus on the millions of women who as citizens support the party. With my research, I aim to provide the field with literature to contribute to the elimination of the existing contextual gap by having the female citizens in focus and analyze their narrative.

# **Theoretical Implications**

The sections below will introduce the relevant theories that will support and assist in constructing a result from the prosses of data acquisition.

#### **Political Socialization Theory**

Political Socialization theory provides a framework that aims to explain and establish how individuals form their political beliefs through interactions with their environment and serves as a foundation to explore the role of various socialization processes in shaping the political alignment of Turkish women with the AKP in specific. My goal is thus to utilize this theory to give meaning to the political behaviors and choices of Turkish women and to recognize possible patterns existing amongst the voters by instrumentalizing various influences the theory determines as relevant.

One of the earliest and most influential works on the subject is "the Civic Culture Political Attitudes and Democracy in Five Nations" by Gabriel Almond & Sidney Verba in 1963. Almond & Verba (1963) argue that the initial understanding of political socialization was too simple and ambiguous: the discussed initial studies prioritized the behavior of young children in their research for two reasons; the belief that anything learned in childhood is crucial as it lays the foundation for our beliefs and attitudes in the future, (Niemi & Hepburn,

1995) and secondly; the belief that acquiring political beliefs prior to adulthood would ensure those views didn't change in later stages of life (Easton and Dennis, 1969). This was further supported by Campbell et al. (1960) who suggested that party identification often served to be a lifelong commitment, as individuals usually stick with the political party they initially choose. Almond & Verba (1963) on the other hand, argued that while non-political experiences do indeed play an influential role in developing political attitudes, these effects follow through into adulthood, even going as far as directly arguing for the possibility of experiences occurring in adulthood sometimes being more influential than those in childhood. With consensus existing on the subject that an individual's environment is influential, the dispute on the specific influences and age periods continues.

By the mid-1980s, the focus in this field of research shifted toward how political views differentiate as we age. The critique of Marsh (1971) was of high importance in this regard, as it argued that political beliefs were more than mere childhood influences, and research started seeing political learning as an ongoing development. The shift furthermore led to a focus on how current events and government performance affect our political choices, rather than early political learning. Party identification, as previously mentioned, was initially assumed to be an identity development without having reached an age of cognitive skills to comprehend politics. This view shifted to a belief that argued party identification was formed through informed reactions to politics (Fiorina 1981). The consensus on the topic after years of research, is that political learning is a lifelong process that starts in childhood, (Jennings & Niemi 1981) with adolescence being considered as the most impressionable and vital years for establishing political attitudes. Specifically, from the ages of 17 to 25, (Jennings & Niemi 1981) individuals are especially susceptible to external factors such as historical events, political changes, and social and cultural dynamics (Alwin & Krosnick 1991).

The 'agents of socialization' around us, such as family, school, and mass media, are various influences that shape our political opinions and can go as far as encouraging or discouraging our behavior, too (Rothschild, n.d.). Throughout research, the notion of family has been a constant point of interest as one of the main socialization agents. (Jennings & Niemi, 1968). The socioeconomic status of parents, by possibly contributing to political involvement through children with an increased likeliness of higher level of education, has been discussed by scholars to be a mechanism through which parents impact the development of children's political orientations. In other words, parents of higher socioeconomic status may shape the political orientations of a child through discussions and guidance on politics and civic responsibilities as it has been established that the socioeconomic status of parents may influence the development of class-specific political orientations, civic attitudes, and involvement (Beck & Jennings, 1982). With my preliminary research highlighting a recurrent pattern of socioeconomic status as a relevant factor, the analysis will examine the possible influence of socioeconomic status in relation to the Turkish case to possibly confirm these hypotheses.

Despite education being considered another agent of socialization, there is limited consensus on the actual influence of schools fostering political engagement (Campbell, 2009). During the initial stages of research on political socialization, it was argued that schools and its civic education had close to no influence at all on students (Neundorf & Smets, 2015), which became a highly contested argument in later years. It is debated that influences of education can manifest through either having lectures on topics related to politics such as civic education, or through the possibility of free discussion in a school environment. Taking into consideration the fact that Turkey has gone through many reforms in the educational system throughout its time as a republic, as well as the various elements that have prevented fair access to education, as a researcher I have had to take into account

the fact that the demographic in question may not have equal educational backgrounds. If I were to instrumentalize education as an indicator in my analysis, I must assume that civic education through schooling is, and has been, the norm. However, as that cannot be guaranteed, the *educational level* of the individual in combination with their family's education level will be utilized to form an argument based on education and its relation to political engagement and alignment. This raises the question, does the level of education influence political alignment?

The discussed theory thus offers a framework on the discussed views regarding how political attitudes, beliefs, and behaviors are formed and evolve over time. Based on studies, political socialization begins in childhood, with the family as an important agent that holds influence through various elements such as socioeconomic status and level of education. With further experience in life, other influences come into action, shaping an individual's political view. In literature, it is agreed on the notion that political beliefs are not static, but rather subject to reevaluation through influences from life experiences, as well as significant political events, and general shifts in the political landscape. Ultimately, political views are continuously developed through an interplay of several elements.

#### **Social Identity Theory**

In the field of social psychology, Social Identity Theory, abbreviated as SIT, was originally developed by Tajfel, and further expanded together with Turner in the late 1970s (Tajfel & Turner, 1979). The theory argues that people shape their identities through affiliations with various social groups, creating a social identity. In the process, a distinction is made between those of one's 'own' social group, namely, 'in-groups', and the others,

called 'out-groups', creating a language of them vs. us. Usually, an individual holds a favorable bias towards their own group, namely ingroup favoritism or ingroup bias, fostering a sense of collective identity (Worley, 2021).

SIT further explores how individuals perceive and exaggerate the differences between their group of belonging and other groups. Through self-categorization, an individual categorizes or classifies oneself in relation to other social categories, in turn forming an identity (Stets & Burke, 2000). It is argued that social identity creates an emotional attachment to its group, influencing individual's behavior that ranges along a spectrum with one end, being personal actions, and the other end, being behavior led by group dynamics. The degree of self-identified closeness to a person's in-group determines their place on the spectrum of behavior. This intensity of identification with their in-group is stated to increase with conflict that arises from perceived differences between groups, resulting in an individual that acts as a group member rather than an individual. (Worley, 2021). Through this, I aim to understand how the various group identifications in the context of Turkish society and women play out and shape political affiliations with the AKP and what the building blocks of these identities are. Usually, parts of these identities are derived from larger groups such as nations, with aspects such as race, ethnicity, gender, occupation, language, religion, and nationality being key elements of social identity (Worley, 2021). What is relevant to this case, are the identities that intersect for the group in focus, which in this case includes gender and religion. Furthermore, Campbell et al. (1960) argued that identification with a political party is just as valid and will hence also be beneficial for this study. SIT provides a framework for understanding how these dynamics work and how social affiliations may alter and shape our views, attitudes, and interactions which in turn will assist us in understanding how the AKP possibly mobilizes support through various actions such as appealing to shared social identities.

SIT itself is the result of three processes, namely social categorization, social identification, and social comparison. The initial category as previously mentioned, social categorization, refers to humans' tendency to group objects or people together, allowing easier discourse on said group. By grouping, we as humans stereotype and generalize, and it allows an individual a place in society. Social identification is the next step, where an individual sees themself as belonging to a certain group, adopting certain aspects of the behavior associated with it. The last step, social comparison, is the step where an individual seeks positive aspects of its in-group, or negative aspects of an out-group to enhance one's self-image (Worley, 2021). As previously mentioned, this step leads to rivalry between groups, with comparisons leading to competition and sometimes conflict. Further research has shown that the social identities are both descriptive, in that they outline characteristics for the said group, while also being prescriptive, setting norms and expectations for those included (Larson, 2017).

In The American Voter, a comprehensive study of voting behavior in the US, it is argued by the authors that individuals identify with political parties, similarly to the way they identify with, for instance, racial and religious groups; a foundation soon enough built upon by social identity theory. Partisanship is in fact described as a social identification by Campbell et al. (1960), as the nature of it, leads to the bipolar political parties being divided into 'us' versus 'them' (Greene, 2004). The differentiation between groups leads to favoritism of in-groups where the positive qualities are exaggerated, and derogation of outgroups, where there's an exaggeration of the negative qualities, leading to one's own ingroup to be observed as superior. It is argued that in addition to this phenomenon, there is a positive correlation between partisan social identity and partisan behavioral consistency. In other words, an individual with a strong partisan social identity has less of an inclination to stray away from their in-group, as well as being a more consistent voter, and be a supporter

of their party in a broader sense. With a strong sense of partisanship, a political party's victory or defeat can become personal to the individual and research has stated that partisans are more likely to accept favorable information regarding their party and argue against negative information as well as evaluate factual outcomes more positively when their party is in power (Huddy, Bankert, & Davies, 2018).

As previously mentioned, religion is one of the many various components of social identity. Islamic religious identity is of high importance in Turkish society with most of the population identifying as a Muslim. The AKP has throughout the years, with the use of media and their actions presented itself as a protector of Islam and is perceived by the masses to be aligned with Islamic values, appealing to those who hold their religious identity in high regard (Ayata & Tütüncü, 2008). In this sense, one may argue that religious identity at some point, can become intertwined with political identity for some, leading people to view AKP as an extension of their social identity. To analyze and draw conclusions on this hypothesis, I will benefit from media as a platform that is instrumentalized to reinforce this bond between religion and political affiliation, through disseminating narratives and discourse presented on this specific subject by figures of the AKP. Studies have shown that individuals prefer and actively seek out media content that represents ingroup members (Harwood, 2020) and media will therefore be analyzed on its influences on the perceptions of in-groups and out-groups in terms of group affiliations based on religious identities, and if it strengthens or weakens the group in question's affiliation to the AKP. In other words, I intend to use social identity theory to support the claim and examine the degree of perception that the AKP supporters have of the party as a part of their social identity, particularly through religious affiliation that is reinforced by the party through media. Furthermore, the media will also be a point of discussion in relation to its role as an instrument for intensifying ingroup bias as well as

deepening the perceived divide between the in-groups and out-groups through certain narratives.

SIT is not exempt from shortcomings which have naturally been discussed by various researchers over time. Demirden (2021) highlights the fact that SIT falls short of explaining how individuals initially decide to identify with a group. It is known and accepted that those with a sense of collective identity may have a fluctuating relationship with their in-group, but where and when does it start? As he further emphasizes, self-categorization is usually mentioned by those using SIT, however, the decision of self-categorization itself is not discussed in detail. This is an interesting aspect to be considered and hence another reason for examining the initial stages of self-categorization with the collective identity that reasons with the AKP.

# Methodology

This chapter aims to provide insight into the process behind my research on the elements that constitute the influences that have shaped Turkish women's support for the ruling party of Turkey, the Justice and Development Party, by looking at the possible influence of socioeconomic status, as well as influences that constitute social identity. This section will additionally attempt to outline the methodological approaches and decisions taken in the process. The research philosophy will be discussed in order to establish the fundamental approach to the issue as a whole and the principles that guided me while conducting the research. Then I will discuss the research approach and how it aligns with the research philosophy, and why it was the most fitting choice for this specific case. The research design will then describe the overall structure that guided the research, from start to finish, influencing the other research-related decisions. Additionally, it is important to describe the implemented sampling strategy and the case-specific reasons that influenced our

selection. Finally, I will be discussing the data collection and analysis methods, how I had to adapt along the way, and how I decided to handle the data acquired.

# **Research Philosophy**

The system of beliefs regarding the development of knowledge is referred to as research philosophy. Hence, it is the starting point for embarking on research, as it defines a researcher's view on obtaining and analyzing data (Saunders et al., 2009). As a researcher, I adopted the research philosophy of interpretivism, as this specific case necessitates an initiative to understand and make meaning of human behavior and social phenomena through social contexts. Interpretivism focuses on the meanings created by humans by considering intersectionality and how it reflects and shapes humans' experiences. To preserve this complexity, it is necessary to collect in-depth data relevant and meaningful to the research participants, rather than constructing a more general, surface-level idea of a notion, meaning the notions of generalization and objectivity are to be challenged (Fodouop Kouam, 2024). To properly understand the point of view of the research participants, the interpretivist philosophy necessitates the researcher to have an empathetic stance (Saunders et al., 2009, p. 141) while observing individuals' subjective interpretations of certain meanings.

# Research Approach & Design

Before embarking on collecting data and performing an analysis, a detailed plan on what approach is most suitable for the case in question is necessary to ensure the process is fruitful. Based on the nature of the case I will be studying and its cohort, the unit of analysis, qualitative research methods fall in line with interpretivism as it employs various in-depth

data acquisition methods on subjective experiences (Creswell & Creswell, 2022). The relevant methods of qualitative research for this study are based on text-based data, such as interviews and open-ended surveys, as I primarily analyze the individual value given to notions such as religion. As the focus of this research is on a study cohort composed of a specific group of individuals, where I aim to understand their views on meanings and experiences, I apply the quantitative research design of a case study. By doing this, I am allowed an in-depth into the circumstances of a group of people within a set context. In this case, it is specifically Turkish women in support of a specific political party. As employing a case study usually involves multiple methods of data collection, I will as previously mentioned, deploy various means in this regard. The case study further deploys an explanatory angle, which involves explaining a phenomenon through the exploration of causal factors, which aligns with my research question as it focuses on 'what the main factors' of political alignment are (Priya, 2021).

### **Research methods**

# **Data Collection, Selection & Sampling Strategy**

The main priority in terms of data collection, was initially to perform semi-structured qualitative interviews with 10 women of different ages and socio-economic backgrounds, but with the common factor of being AKP supporters. To execute this, a semi-structured qualitative interview approach was deployed for several reasons. As a researcher with a specific research question in mind, I wanted to have a structure and set of questions ready for each interview, without conditioning the interviewees to reply to each and every one.

Depending on the situation and the interviewees' reactions, I omitted certain questions if needed, as well as reformulating some of the questions or providing follow-up questions offscript to encourage the research participant to elaborate further and provide deeper insights. As a result, I had more flexible interviews where the answers provided were richer and more detailed than what a strictly structured interview would've had. The interview guide was prepared to allow a natural flow throughout the interviews by initially asking about 'factsheet' information to establish a general demographical idea of the research participant, and asking questions related to the research question topic by topic. I formulated interview questions that I revised after a mock interview, where I identified certain issues such as an unnatural flow, or questions that were irrelevant or too repetitive. Using the method of snowballing, I was as previously mentioned, aiming to interview 10 different women. Due to issues regarding limitations as to be discussed later on, I carried out interviews with 2 women through snowballing. During my visit to Istanbul, research participant 6 was the first individual I carried out an interview with, as I had a personal connection. Through her, I was referred to research participant 5 who tried to refer me further but was unsuccessful. Research participant 6 was selected as an interviewee as based on previous interactions, she had established herself as a long-time supporter. Based on built trust, she felt comfortable enough to have an extensive, open discussion. For both interviews, I visited the research participants' homes in Turkey, presented them with a consent form they both signed, and recorded the interviews in a quiet environment, and following the interviews I manually transcribed them. The interviews were carried out in Turkish as neither of the research participants spoke English and it allowed for various nuances of language that would elsewise be lost in translation at the moment.

Through a personal connection, I managed to reach out to a third research participant for a potential interview. Based on her feedback and reluctance to participate and be recorded in an interview, I adapted my interview guide to an anonymous qualitative web survey using Google Form which the research participant stated would be preferred by herself and others. An anonymous web survey can additionally be argued to assist in overcoming social desirability bias, where the respondents may provide a 'socially desirable' answer rather than their own subjective opinion, hence distorting data, whereas social desirability bias may be more prevalent in interviews (Bryman, 2012, p. 228). The questions in the survey had to be re-evaluated and compressed to prevent participant disengagement or fatigue (Braun et al., 2021, p. 648). Hence, while some of the questions were open-ended, meaning the participant would respond by typing out their answers, some of the questions were closed-ended. Additionally, some were multiple answers questions. All the questions were presented as conditional questions to avoid forcing a research participant to reply to a question they possibly didn't feel comfortable answering, had limited information on, or simply did not apply to them. Similarly to the semi-structured interviews, the initial questions were related to demographic information. Following, I presented the questions in themes to allow for a natural flow and placed page breaks between each topic to allow for transitions and breaks between answers. The themes followed the themes in the interview guide, divided into topics such as religious influence, political activity, family and social environment and women's rights. Via snowballing through the research participant, 4 individuals in total filled out the survey.

Besides the collected primary data, I additionally benefitted from secondary data by evaluating existing research papers on the topic to further support my research. The secondary data provided enriching perspectives and valuable data to support the analysis of my primary data.

#### **Data Analysis & Coding**

Based on the theoretical framework, preliminary research, as well as my observations, I identified sections of data relevant to my research question. I assigned codes to these relevant sections, and upon revising these codes, I identified broader patterns to focus on, creating specific themes. These pre-defined codes were utilized while examining the gathered primary data by applying them through deductive thematic analysis, where I examined patterns in the interview transcripts and the open-ended survey responses regarding the influences that have led to the women's support and political beliefs (Bryman, 2012). The themes emerged through repetition, with certain topics being brought up several times, and through similarities in descriptions.

#### **Ethical Concerns**

Given the sensitivity of the topic in regards to the current political climate of Turkey as well as the study cohort, as a researcher I had a responsibility to uphold certain ethical standards. Since religion was one of the recurring themes throughout the study, as well as in the discussions with the research participants, I approached the secondary data with critical perspective in order to be aware of any bias, Islamophobia, or orientalist views that could be reflected in it. Additionally, I took a deliberate stance from material prepared by researchers and other individuals with a strong pro- or anti-stance on the Turkish government.

Regarding my responsibility towards the research participants, I designed the front page of the online survey with a Turkish description that described the aim of the survey, the anonymity of the survey, the fact that participation was completely voluntary and that the

research participant could withdraw at any moment. Additionally, I provided my e-mail in case any of the research participants wanted to reach out. For the research participants that participated in the interviews, I provided a consent form in Turkish that again, shortly described the study while highlighting the anonymity of the study, the fact that the interview would be recorded, that they could choose to not reply to certain or any questions and that they held all power to stop or withdraw consent to the study.

#### Limitations

Going into this research I was prepared to meet difficulties regarding obtaining interviewees, as previously mentioned, politics is a hot topic in Turkey with two extremely polarized groups. Additionally, the demographic I wanted to interview still experiences prejudice by other groups, which would make them more reluctant to speak about politics. I myself do not necessarily physically present as a typical AKP supporter, meaning the perception of my appearance may be observed as an out-group. Being only half-Turkish, I don't look 'typically' Turkish, speak with a slight accent and don't necessarily dress in an Islamically modest way, as well as being of a younger age group than the general demographic that votes for AKP.

Having an already limited social circle hence posed as a difficulty in the beginning of the process of sampling.

I reached out to multiple of the women's branches established by AKP in Istanbul, both through social media as well as email, in hopes of either having the opportunity to interview someone who is politically active within the party or finding potential research participants through snowballing via them. To find research participants outside of AKP itself, I created posts on various social media, which also didn't yield any results. Upon

arriving in Istanbul to carry out the first interview, I physically visited one of the branches of the women's branches of AKP and was told the only way they would consent to an interview was if I first got consent from either the Ministry of Culture and Tourism or by arranging a private meeting with Saliha Demirer, the Chairwoman of the Women's Branch of the Province of Istanbul, who would then be able to consent and appoint someone to be interviewed.

Hence, snowballing as a sampling strategy, despite not allowing for semi-structured interviews with 10 women, presented me with the opportunity to gain insightful perspectives into a diverse group's experiences.

# **Analysis**

The following chapter provides a detailed thematic analysis of the primary data collected through interviews and an online survey, complemented by supplementary secondary data.

The chapter is divided and organized into several sections that individually focus on specific predetermined themes drawn on the theoretical framework as well as the preliminary research. Each section will hence focus on themes such as socioeconomic level, education, religion, political events, and Erdoğan's media narrative. By examining and analyzing these themes individually, this chapter aims to explore the various influences that shape Turkish women's political affiliations with the AKP. This ensures a nuanced understanding of the various dynamics involved while providing insight into the subjective meanings and experiences of women in Turkey.

### **Demographic Overview Over the Study Cohort**

When examining the existing data regarding the Turkish voter's demographics, it is possible to observe a pattern within those who politically align with AKP. Despite the party's denial of the existing gender discrimination as well as openly expressing their opposition to gender equality (Gülel, 2020), women have since the party's foundation, constituted on average half its voters. The party has attracted mostly housewives, which has constituted the largest portion of their female voters, as well as women with lower levels of education (Çavdar, 2022).

To gauge the validity of the influences to be discussed below, I will use the responses provided by the research study participants. This primary data includes interviews with 2 individuals and survey responses from 4 individuals, making up a total of 6 participants, whom I will refer to as the study cohort. Below I have hence introduced the relative information needed to establish a demographic picture of each participant, such as their age, level of education, and profession. Following, I will incorporate their varying responses to the related questions that will assist in exploring and answering my research question.

The demographic overview of the research study participants is presented in the table below. This section aims to provide a representative sample regarding age, education level, profession, and duration of AKP support.

Participant	Age Group	Education Level	Profession	AKP Support Duration
RP1	18-29	University Degree	Architect	1 year
RP2	18-29	University Degree	Teacher	3 years
RP3	18-29	University Student	Student	7 years
RP4	30-59	Primary/Middle School	Housewife	20 years
RP5	30-59	High School	Retired Housewife	20 years
RP6	60+	High School	Retired Housewife	20 years

The participants over 30 predominantly have a lower level of education and identify as housewives, which correlates with lower socio-economic status. This trend aligns with previous findings by Uncu (2018), who established that almost 40% of the female voters of AKP are housewives. Accordingly, these women are also those who have been supporters for the longest time. The younger research participants have a higher level of education, participate in the workforce, and have supported AKP for a lesser time.

## **Religious Influence and Political Events**

Based on preliminary knowledge of the political history of Turkey, combined with the data presented by my research, I have observed and constructed a chain of events that could be regarded as a general experience of Turkish women who have either lived to experience the secular-religious polarization and turbulent political climate of the ''lost'' years in Turkey in the 90s when a fourth coup was experienced (Tekin & Sezer Şanlı, 2023, p.244), or that has experienced or observed marginalization based on religion in recent years. This assumed chain of events is additionally based on the work of Özcan (2017), which presents a timeline that consists of initial marginalization by the political system on grounds of religious

freedom, which expands into territories like the expression of freedom of religion in the form of wearing a headscarf or practicing faith outside of the home, which in turn led to exclusion from public institutions, and workforce if not complied. To explore this further, I ask the research participants about religion and their support.

Kicking off the interviews, after establishing the research participants' basic information, I asked an open-ended question: "What are the main reasons for your support?" This allowed the participants to express themselves freely without prior discussion. The same question was included in the survey as a multiple-choice question with an open-ended option.

The possible answers in the survey were as follows:

- 1. Political Ideology
- 2. The party's policies and promises
- 3. Past performance or experience of the AK Party
- 4. Political figures of the AK Party
- 5. Other:

The most comprehensive answer was given by research participant 6, who is the oldest out of the study cohort, and who has experienced the earlier periods of Turkey where political parties were banned on grounds of 'promoting religion'. She continues the interview, stating that freedom in the form of wearing a headscarf in public was their only expectation at the time when voting for the AKP and is still the main reason why she is still supporting them.

"Before the AK Party, for example, everything was interfered with; we could not feel free. Regarding worship, we faced opposition about everything from the scarves on our heads to the clothes we wore. We could not move around freely. Now with the AK Party, everything is normal. We can easily enter and exit municipalities, healthcare facilities, any governor's offices, everywhere, with our headscarves" (Research Participant 6, see Appendix B).

It is possible to observe a reflection of the sense of collective identity in the discourse by research participant 6, as she spoke on behalf of the oppressed women by continuously using the word 'we'.

This expectation from the AKP is supported by research participant 5, who states that the headscarf issue was and is the only reason why she has been in favor of them (Research Participant 5, see Appendix B). Furthermore, she compares Turkey to Europe in the sense of freedom, stating that Turkish citizens should be able to be as comfortable and free of interference as those living in Europe. The four research participants that participated in the survey all listed ''Past performance or experience of the AK Party'' as their reason for support, with research participants 3 and 4 also listing the party's political figures as an influence. A recurring theme in the answers gathered, is a focus on the past success of the political party as a reason for voting for them, rather than focusing on for instance currently carried out projects or promises by the AKP as a reason for current alignment.

To further assess the research participants' support, I asked the question "Has any event in the past or present significantly affected your support for the AK Party?". By reformulating the question discussed earlier, I hoped to gain insight on any specific political event such as the headscarf ban, that could provide further understanding, as well as to

measure if said political events increased or decreased their support. The reformulation was successful as it provided me with recurring topics amongst the supporters. 3 out of the 6 participants replied that the current situation of Syrians in Turkey is a factor that has decreased their support, stating that the AKP has put the Syrians ahead of its 'own' citizens, making Turkish citizens second-class citizens. (Research Participant 5, see Appendix B). For the same question, 3 out of the 6 research participants mentioned the current failing economy. Research participant 5 (Research Participant 5, see Appendix B) and 6 (Research Participant 6, see Appendix B). Both specifically mentioned that the last 5 years have decreased their support due to the economy and high cost of living. Research participant 5 highlights the introduction of the EYT (Retirement Benefit Age) as an unjust action by the government stating that there is no 'justice' in the Justice and Development Party, but rather 'only development' (Research Participant 6, see Appendix B). EYT was introduced in 2023 and is a regulation concerning retirees. With the introduction of EYT, individuals who normally meet the required premium days and insurance period necessary to retire are now put on hold as an age requirement was added. This issue affects those who began working as insured employees before September 8, 1999. Hence, women must now be of the age of 60, and men must be 65 to retire (Tahancı, 2024).

As religion, in the shape of the ban on the headscarf and its related events has been established as an influential event, I wanted to gauge the influence of religion in general for political alignment and evaluate its role as a possible group membership of the research participants social identity. I asked the participants if religion plays a role in their political views and support for the AKP. Research participant 6, who has supported the AKP since its foundation, admits that in the beginning, she didn't know what the AKP stood for or did in general and that for her, she only cared about religion (Research Participant 6, see Appendix

B). For the survey, I provided a follow-up question that asked if they had experienced a significant moment or event that deeply influenced the connection between their religious beliefs and political preferences. Here it is interesting to notice that 2 out of the 3 research participants in the age group 18-29 state no, and that religion plays either no role or a slight role in their political alignment with the AKP. The research participant that is in the cohort aged 30 to 59, similarly to research participant 6 who is 60 years old, stated yes to both questions. In other words, it can be inferred that for the older individuals who lived through the times of religious marginalization, religion is a more important priority and possibly a notion they would consider a part of their social identity, whereas those who have lived through adulthood in times of religious freedom do not prioritize or relate to religion in the same regard.

The recurring themes observed so far are those of religion, the economy, the AKP's past success, and its political figures. Gündem (2023) discusses said factors in his analysis of voting behavior in Turkey and establishes that the impact of religion is higher than any other factor included in his study, such as the national economic performance, seemingly being the main motivation. As religious conservatism is then the main ideology of the voters, it is fair to assume they vote for who reflects the values it brings with it.

## Erdoğan's Populist Discourse and the Instrumentalization of Media

The AKP is maybe most known for its current leader and president of the country, Recep Tayyip Erdoğan. He has been described to fit the profile of a charismatic and populist leader who is very skillful at creating a bond of loyalty with his followers by emphasizing with them (Çay & Kalkamanova, 2023). A way of building up this trust and image, to create a sense of collective identity that leads individuals to feel a strong sense of belonging, is

through media. As Uncu (2018) established, it is evident that much of the media is biased as they have been proven to be affiliated with the current government. During the general elections last year in 2023, it was established that the state media TRT, which is the second most watched channel by AKP voters, allocated 33 hours of screen time to Erdoğan, while his main opponent representing CHP was only allocated 32 minutes (Turkish Minute, 2023). To explore the idea that media plays an influential role in creating and continuing a collective identity, either through the screen time of Erdoğan or another representative of AKP, I asked the research participants questions related to their media usage in relation to following politics.

I asked the research participants what platforms they used to follow news related to politics. The cohort aged 30 and over, all preferred to watch TV, whereas only one of the participants of the age group 18-29 stated she also watched news on TV. The replies by the rest of the group vary between social media and the internet, with no distinctive pattern in terms of age. None of the research participants used newspapers as a source for politics-related news. The older participants' long-lasting loyalty to the political party can hence be connected to their media usage as TV Channels tend to portray pro-government content. Following this, I asked the question of how close they feel to AKP on a scale from one to ten, with one being the lowest degree.

Research participant 5 and 6 who had previously stated their support has decreased over the last 5 years due to the economy, both stated that they priorly were 100% in favor of AKP but currently, their support has dropped to half of what it was, or even less. (Research Participant 6, see Appendix B; Research Participant 5, see Appendix B). From the youngest

cohort, we see the results ranging from 4 to 7, with the research participants of the cohort aged 30-59 answering 8.

These results are reflected in their replies to the question, ''As a member of the AK Party, do you feel like you are part of a larger group?". Research participant 6 answered no, which was also her reply to the question ''Do you think you have anything in common with other people who feel close to the AK Party?". From her earlier discussed replies as well as her replies to the other questions included during the interview, it was not surprising to see that she felt distant from the party. For her, the headscarf is the only issue that has brought her close to AKP. She mentions throughout the interview that she doesn't necessarily agree with every action they do. It may be argued that such habits stem from a background of lower education, which can translate to lower political literacy.

"I don't feel close to anything about the AK Party. Frankly, I don't find all of its actions reasonable. I only stand behind it because it gave us this tolerance. Otherwise not."

(Research Participant 6, see Appendix B)

The youngest cohort, which has the lowest scores in terms of a sense of belonging to a larger group either answered "yes" or "partly" to the question about having anything in common with others that also support AKP, whereas research participant 4 who had the highest score of an 8, answered yes.

To gauge the effect of Erdoğan or potentially other prominent figures within AKP, and the degree of influence of their position as a politician in AKP when it comes to voters' preference of political parties, I asked the research participants questions regarding their

voting behavior. During the interviews with research participants 5 and 6, I asked them what their criteria are when voting in local or general elections, and to what extent the party of the candidate is important. Both participants stated that the individual themself is quite important and the services they have provided and can hence promise for the future. Research participant 6 stated that the political party also held a lot of importance and that she looked at how much that party could benefit the nation and herself economically and in terms of freedom of religion. She continues and says that it may be selfish, but for her, religion supersedes other influences and that if she had been young, at this point other issues might've been more important to her.

"How much can these people benefit the nation, me, in terms of my religion, and economically? ... now at my age, I think about it this way. Maybe I wouldn't have thought this way when I was younger. It's a bit selfish, of course. But I think more about religion than the economy, frankly. It dominates, in my opinion." (Research Participant 6, see Appendix B)

In other words, the important notions are economic stability and religion. For the survey, the question was a multiple-choice open-ended question that asked ''What are your criteria when voting for a candidate in local or general elections?".

The recurring theme in the answers in the survey was that all four research participants who completed it checked off "the candidate's past performance or experience" as a reason for their support. Additionally, two of the research participants indicated "the policies and promises of the candidate's party," and two participants noted both "the candidate's party, political view, and ideology" as well as "the candidate's character and leadership qualities." They all answered, "moderately influences" to the question, "*To what* 

extent does the party of the candidate participating in the election influence your choice when voting?". As previously discussed, most of the AKP voters had been established to prioritize Erdoğan as a politician over AKP as a party and showcased immense devotion and loyalty to both. As reflected in the responses by the research participants, it is possible to observe a pattern of preference and attention for the candidate rather than the party which can be argued to be the result of Erdoğan's populist discourse which works to strengthen the in-group favoritism of the voters.

### Women's issues and representative ideology

Erdoğan, as a representative of AKP, has on numerous occasions argued for gender justice rather than equality due to his creationist views; he refers to Islam while discussing issues related to women and states that women and men are not equal on grounds of *fitrat*, which means the 'purpose of creation'. In that sense, his discourse argues that treating men and women is in fact harmful to women, and the actual problem. While talking about women, he refers to them as mothers and teachers, wives and sisters, rather than as individuals, reinforcing patriarchal narratives of women (Gülel, 2020), while calling on women to have "at least three children" (Çavdar, 2022, p.56). As Moghadam (2018, p.298) stated, the women in support of Erdoğan, 'may be homemakers who find security in the traditional sexual division of labor."

AKP involves women in their party and carries out work focusing on housewives, their main group of supporters. As Erdoğan has previously mentioned, "Once women of the household are convinced to support the party, they would find a way to convince their husbands.". Through AKP's women's branch, the *AK Parti Kadın Kolları* recruits volunteers and reaches millions of potential voters every year by establishing networks on a local level.

Erdoğan works closely with the women's branch, which in 2020 announced with their 4.7 million members that they were the largest women's organization in the world. Reflecting the party's values, the women's branch exists on all levels, from national to neighborhood offices, where they weekly conduct female-only visits to those designated to have various needs (Çavdar, 2022, p.66). I personally heard about this way of work while visiting one of the branches of the women's office, where I was told I would be unable to find them on any other day of the week, as they carry out neighborhood visits 4 days a week. Furthermore, these branches are responsible for creating a sense of solidarity and support, especially in times of election where Erdoğan, in his speeches, requests them to 'get in each and every house and reach every heart.''. While he offers his respect to this segment of the population, he has targeted the feminists as 'the others' who 'don't understand motherhood, the highest position a woman may reach "(Gülel, 2020, p. 16-19), a narrative further increasing the divide between the in- and out-groups.

While the word feminism by definition means ''belief in and advocacy of the political, economic, and social equality of the sexes expressed especially through organized activity on behalf of women's rights and interests" according to Merriam-Webster (Merriam-Webster, n.d.), the word is loaded for some individuals and some may have different perceptions of the word, either negative or positive.

"I say that 'Women are entrusted by God to men,' and these feminists come out and say, 'What do you mean women are an entrusted possession? This is an insult'. You have no connection with our civilization, our faith, or our religion. We look at the address of the beloved Prophet in his Farewell Sermon. He says, 'They are a trust from God,' and 'Respect and protect that trust. ''— Recep Tayyip Erdoğan (BBC News, 2015)

I asked the research participants, if they knew what feminism is and if they consider themselves as one. The youngest research participants, along with one of the housewives stated they knew what feminism was. However, only two of the youngest participants, out of the entire study cohort, stated they also identified as one. To the question, if they thought of AKP as a feminist institution, they all said they did not know. Research participant 5 further expresses that she doesn't know what a feminist is, but that she is called so by her brother for speaking her mind. In her opinion and experience, the word 'feminist' is used in derogatory discourse (Research Participant 5, see Appendix B). As we can safely conclude that the majority, if not all AKP supporters, are religious and hence follow the religious ideology of Erdoğan, it is not surprising to observe that only two out of the six research participants identify themselves as an feminist as Erdoğan has continuously over the years labeled feminists as the 'others' and used derogatory language when talking about them; especially taking into account that most of the voters actively watch television where Erdoğan's speeches are continuously aired.

While no data regarding the research participants' economic status was gathered, AKP's target group has since the beginning been the periphery: the peasants, the villagers, and the lower class living in the outskirts. The ones disregarded during the modernization process, the ones with lower education, and the housewives who aren't a part of the workforce (Gündem, 2023). An effective method of securing the votes of this population was initially through resurrecting the failing economy in the early 2000's, and over time has evolved into the efforts of the women's branches in ways of social welfare. Çavdar (2022) draws attention to the instrumentalization of public welfare as a means of increasing voter support in her study where she observed that women, despite being of a smaller segment,

received more public welfare transfers than poor men, with housewives receiving the biggest share. This share of housewife recipients has increased over the years and reached 39% in 2016. The social transfers were collected under the Ministry of Family, Labor, and Social Services in 2008, which determines who is eligible to receive transfers and what the budget is. Çavdar (2022) argues this process is political, as the ministry is controlled by AKP, and the recipients as well as the timing of the welfare transfers are determined by them as they usually have the most representatives on all levels included, from municipalities to cities. Furthermore, the transfers of for instance cash assistance, are sometimes credited to the president, where recipients may receive a text message signed off from the president. Often, these transfers of cash assistance, provisions, or even coal assistance for heating are timed to be handed out prior to Erdoğan's political rallies or an election. In interviews carried out by Kutlu (2018), most of the interviewees who had received these transfers expressed awareness on the topic of the transfers' political motivation and stated it had indeed convinced them to vote for AKP as they felt a sense of gratitude. For housewives with a lower socioeconomic background, receiving these transfers may seem like an act of respect and recognition for women, as well as a way of assisting in maintaining peace at home.

Research participant 6 expressed that she felt unrest in the family largely stems from the economy; defining a struggling economy as an event that shakes the family. When asked about areas of improvement for women, she states that the economy should be better so that peace within the family can increase. For her, women's rights are established around the framework of mutual respect in the household between a man and a woman; hence, a lack of money may lead to disrespect (Research Participant 6, see Appendix B). Research participant 5 expressed similar sentiments:

"He (husband) respects my rights. When it comes to women's rights, well, I can say that I am fully able to defend my rights now. I am free. My husband respects me, and I respect his opinions. We do everything together... I mean, I have all sorts of rights at home. Don't I? We do what we want to do. My husband does not object to anything, I speak openly. He also does the dishes. We wipe things down together. We do everything together. "(RP.5, p.9)

Wanting to gain further insight into their views on women's rights and assess if they would mention issues outside the private sphere, such as femicide which has been a continuing issue in Turkey with an average of 400 femicides annually (anitsayac.com), I asked the research participants what they thought were the main problems faced by women in Turkey. Interestingly, research participant 5 expressed financial freedom as a way of women gaining their rights in society, while also being a notion that has the potential to disrupt the family structure which is highly regarded in Islamist conservative views.

'In Turkey, it's probably not defending their rights. Not being able to express themselves.

Their rights are being defeated. I can say that (women's) rights are only now being granted.

And how does that happen? It's because women have started working. Before they worked,

women were more oppressed. But I think this also depends on mutual understanding. Why?

There are many people who disrespect their spouses while working. This, of course, varies

from person to person, from one set of morals to another. They (women) work and then feel a

sense of freedom. They try to dominate their husbands, or they leave them. We are free too,
they say, we have economic freedom, and so the concept of family disintegrates. But I don't
think it's related to working per se. It's more of a moral issue. Currently, I don't think that
women in Turkey are being treated unjustly too much. Because everyone can now claim their

rights. The old system is gone. In fact, men are being treated unjustly." (Research Participant 5, see Appendix B).

There is much to unpack in the quote above. The research participant highlights a chain of events where women are oppressed because they do not defend or fight for their rights. As a way of obtaining their rights, women need economic freedom, which may disrupt the family which is where equality lies according to the conservative narrative presented by AKP. Then, she concludes that it actually ends with the person; it's an issue of morality. Furthermore, this dynamic leads to men being the discriminated population.

"We shouldn't let women be oppressed either. We need to establish a balance between the two. Actually, equality never really occurs, you know? Because power comes into play. Men are stronger. By nature, by structure. Physically. That's why there isn't true equality. But equality actually comes from the mind. If it's in the mind, there's no need to enforce equality between men and women as a rule. I think the problem is always with people. Laws don't have to be passed. People are the problem." (Research Participant 5, see Appendix B).

As previously discussed, the conservative Islamist values held by certain people in Turkey reflect Erdoğan's creationist views. Equality is hence not a thing, as men and women are biologically different; they have different tasks in society and women's primary focus should be to keep the family together. She may have other duties, but they should not interfere with her role as a caregiver. Circling back to the women's branch, it has been established that they deliberately target specific groups to support and talk to. Housewives with lower income in the neighborhood get visits from the branch and its volunteers, receive offers for assistance, and potentially cash, food, or necessities for the home. This, in turn,

benefits *gender justice*, as families may temporarily feel economically more secure, and reestablish respect and peace between the wife and husband. Çavdar (2022) argues that the material benefits provided to women as well as solidarity, are the main reasons for women's alignment with conservative parties, which is on par with what I have observed to be relevant influences.

In summary, the thematic analysis carried out, reveals that the themes discussed are crucial factors that shape the political alignment of Turkish women with the AKP. The findings align with the limited existing literature on the topic and provide personal narratives on women's experiences and reasonings for their political affiliation.

#### **Discussion**

This chapter discusses the findings from the analysis in the context of existing research and the theoretical frameworks of Social Identity Theory (SIT) and Political Socialization Theory, to provide a deeper understanding of the obtained observations on the themes of socioeconomic status, education, religious beliefs, media influence, and significant political events like the headscarf ban.

# AKP's Appeal to the Socio-economically Marginalized

Since its foundation, AKP has presented itself as a representative of the marginalized and the periphery; the religious, lower class. The study cohort presented a partial verification as it indicated that the women who had supported AKP for the longest time, were religious housewives, with lower education; the younger cohort supported AKP for less time while having obtained higher education. While existing research has established that 71% of the

female AKP supporters are of the age 33+, with over 60% having a lower education, which is a pattern observed in the collected data (Uncu, 2018); there is a gap in the literature focusing on the younger, educated generations' reasons for political alignment with AKP. It may be deduced that the socializing agents influencing the youth, stray from the older population which is the study cohort of most existing research.

Education works as a socializing agent, namely an influence that plays a role in the process of political socialization, as it provides individuals with a critical environment that provides them with the opportunity to gain political knowledge, hence shaping their political attitudes. Therefore, it can be deduced that an individual with higher education and exposure to civic education, would consider several factors when determining a political party to align with, such as the party's promises, success, legitimacy, and such. It can then be argued that the general population of AKP voters, who mostly have a lower education due to various reasons, have not obtained the knowledge that would allow a critical mindset that questions a party's façade or work in a broader context. This is admitted during the interview with research participant 6, who said she initially voted for AKP to be liberated in her own country; when asked about what values, promises, and efforts of the AKP she feels close to, she states she doesn't; and in fact, don't find all their actions reasonable. When asked about any initiatives she found well implemented by the AKP on the topic of women, she admits she doesn't know much about it. In the research participants with a higher level of education, we observe that they do claim to have knowledge on for instance feminism, as well as identifying as one. This could indicate that education has enabled them with a more critical mindset that allows them to embody different ideas than what is presented through various narratives on media for instance and adopt their own views on topics such as women's issues.

Furthermore, a lower socio-economic status in general, is another trait the general AKP supporters have in common. As established, most have a lower level of education, and the women are mainly housewives; in addition, most of the voters belong to the lower-mid class, which struggles financially more severely than the rest of the population (Uncu, 2018). Lower socio-economic status, in regard to political alignment, often correlates to alignment with parties that implement policies that directly affect the economic well-being and financial status of the voter. As AKP entered the political landscape in Turkey during a failing economy and successfully restored it, AKP can be described as an institution of economic safety for those who see economic stability as more than what it is; also, a necessity for peace at home and equality of spouses. Furthermore, we observed the women's branch as an active socializing agent that targets these groups and offers them a network, expanding AKP's base while building a community of 'us' (Çavdar, 2022), meanwhile providing financial support amongst other types of aid. Hence, it can be assumed that women of lower socio-economic status who hold a conservative Islamist view may prefer AKP as they promise financial support, which in turn provides stability in the family. Furthermore, several of the research participants pointed out the failing economy as an event that has recently affected their support.

#### AKP As the Defender of Islamic Values

Religion is undeniably one of the most significant sources of social identity in this case, providing an individual with a sense of both belonging and community. Throughout the modernization and especially the single-party period of Turkey, the Muslim and conservative population of the periphery was overlooked and marginalized, forcing them into creating local networks that provided a sense of community, an in-group that held similar values and had similar experiences (Binnet, 2015). The headscarf ban is an example of a significant

political event that becomes a collective memory of the in-group, a shared struggle. In an already highly polarized society, the ban on the headscarf created a further divide and left more women out of public spaces. These elements have been the main pillars of AKP, which entered a rough political climate and established itself as the advocate of religious freedom, and defender of Islam with a promise of lifting the headscarf ban (Taşpınar, 2012). Gülel (2020, p.10) observed that Erdoğan referred to notions such as Islam, religion, and sacred values 356 times during his discourse on women through 27 speeches and press releases following his presidency in 2014, reinforcing the focus on conservative values regarding women and their place in society, while maintaining religion as the focal point. Such language shapes an individual's social identity and social relations, influencing the audience (Holsti, 1976). Furthermore, through discourse, a redefinition of 'terrorist' was observed to mean anyone opposing the AKP following the 2015 elections, further solidifying the divide of the in- and out-group. Aslan (2021) argues that public crying is another method of populist discourse that communicates closeness to the in-group. In her study on AKP, she noted that Erdoğan had been teary-eyed at least 30 times in public between 2007 and 2020, usually during times of political turbulence such as the failed coup in 2016, which led to a purge of hundreds of thousands of government employees, imprisoning one-third of them (Aslan 2021). Additionally, these instances are often incorporated into videos prepared by the AKP, presenting him with a certain image to the people while creating the idea that there is a constant existing threat by out-groups. By calling himself one of the 'Black Turks', the man of the people, the representative of the "oppressed and ridiculed"; as well as being portrayed by his party as "one of us"; AKP has managed to create a strong collective identity with its in-group, with the opposition CHP, the party who reigned during the single-party era, implementing the headscarf ban, as the out-group. (Aslan, 2021, p.6)

The collective social identity of an in-group and its divide from the out-group is often strengthened by the media and its portrayal of political leaders' narratives. In our case, we observe Erdoğan as a charismatic leader with high visibility who understands and supports the in-group, in this case, the women of AKP. He utilizes the dichotomy of ''us' vs. ''them'' and convinces the masses that he is the guardian protecting their freedom of religion. If any opposition were to take over; the queers, the feminists, and the Western powers would take over (Gülel, 2020, p.20). In other words, Erdoğan and his party are the true representatives of the people (Özcan, 2017, p.186). Portraying the opposition as deviants that have no place in his interpretation of Islamic conservatism, he fosters and maintains a collective identity among his supporters by continuing to use populist rhetoric.

My findings correlate with existing studies and, through political socialization theory, support socio-economic status and level of education as socializing agents that influence political behavior. In the case of AKP and its network, lower socio-economic status and education correlate with higher support for the AKP as the cohort is more likely to prefer a party whose economic policies and social welfare system benefit them. There is a gap in research on the smaller cohort who has a higher education and socio-economic background in general, but it may be argued their reason for aligning with AKP is the one to be discussed further below. The findings further highlight that religion and political events as in the case of the headscarf ban in Turkey, are notions that play a role in reinforcing a collective group identity; combined with the media portrayal of the populist rhetoric of Erdoğan and his party, in-group identity amongst supporters is strengthened and the divide and polarization of the in- and out-groups are heightened, supporting the social identity theory which argues such events are factors that create and continue individuals political social identity. The

intersection of all these factors hence provides a comprehensive understanding of the various dynamics that influence Turkish women's political alignment with AKP.

The theoretical implications gained from the insights of this study are significant and provide the groundwork for further research on how the discussed socializing agents present themselves in different contexts as influences on political behavior, as well as further research on religious identity and its implications and connections to social and collective identity.

Such research would be of great contribution to literature by providing a deeper understanding of the dynamics at play in the context of political support.

#### **Conclusion**

In this research, I have aimed to answer the research question,

What are the main factors that have influenced and shaped Turkish women's political identities and affiliations with the Justice and Development Party?

A body of research has examined the various concepts related to the Justice and Development Party, discussing in depth various topics such as populism, its foundation, and its leader. However, there is a lack of focus in research on the women of AKP, which was one of the motivations for carrying out this research. This research has then focused on specific influences that were assumed and later confirmed to play a role in women's voting behavior. As a way of contributing to existing research and decreasing the literature gap, I decided to focus on the women who politically align with AKP by conducting interviews and surveys.

The results indicate that socio-economic factors are one of the most prominent indicators of the women's political alignment. To understand why, contextual information on Turkey's history and an explanation of the center-periphery dynamic that has existed since the foundation of the republic have been necessary. Certain events and periods in Turkish history, especially the modernization era, has provided AKP with a base of support as the more conservative and religious low-class, such as the villages of Anatolia and especially its women, have over decades been marginalized and limited in their religious practices.

''During our grandmothers' time, when those parties were around, soldiers would collect the Qur'an in the villages.

They wouldn't let anyone go to the mosques; everyone had to go to school. They experienced that, and then we experienced the same thing in our late teens...

That's why I want to say that we didn't feel valued by them. As a woman, I need to be respected in every way, in terms of my religion and in terms of comfort. During their time, I felt like a monster living in Turkey.

Everywhere we went, we were despised. The AK Party gave us just that (liberation), nothing else. ''(Research Participant 6, see Appendix B)

Losing their right to access public spaces with headscarves, the women in question could not pursue further education and join the workforce in positions such as teachers, lawyers, and civil servants. Often holding conservative views on the role of men and women, the financial crisis in the early 2000s worsened households' economic stability, and with the establishment of AKP in 2001, this demographic found its political representation (Temiz & Gokmen, 2009).

AKP managed to recover the country's economy while establishing a women's branch, Kadın Kolları, giving women a voice and representation. With their public narrative and initiatives heavily involving the symbolism of Islam and conservative values, the party has successfully managed to retain their loyal voters, whose main motivation for politically aligning with them has been found to be religion. The puzzling aspect which raised the question of what factors would lead to women voting for AKP, evolved from the president and AKP's recently more authoritarian and conservative views on women's rights. While gender equality has over the last decade become an even more hot topic, the current government has taken radical steps such as withdrawing from the Istanbul Convention in 2021, which they were the first signatories to; taking limited action to prevent femicide (SCF, 2021), a critical and ongoing phenomena, as well as publicly speaking against feminists, LGBTQ+ and minorities while framing progressive gender policies as threats to the nation and the *family values* (Bayhan, 2023). As their main demographic indeed holds conservative Islamist values, Erdoğan's rhetoric on gender justice, rather than gender equality, has only been embraced by their huge following.

The limitation of this research presents itself as the lack of representation and data of the younger voters, as well as the small sample of research participants. As there is a literature gap on the general subject, it was even more important to include the stories of a larger sample size which as previously discussed, was a complicated issue. To better understand the younger demographic, future studies could be performed with a scope of research focusing on women aged 18-29 with a higher level of education.

I argue that the findings of this study have contributed to the already limited field by providing a different angle on the context of the AKP and women, which in today's climate is

a subject of debate. Theoretically, they have been consistent and coherent with the arguments of both SIT and political socialization, offering a different study sample they are applicable to. I believe that understanding the dynamics behind the political alignment of this specific demographic also adds insight and reason that may reduce the current divide of the in and out-groups as both sides currently hold mutual biases that further alienate them.

As this study has sought to understand the main factors that have influenced and shaped the political identities and affiliations of Turkish women with the Justice and Development Party (AKP), I believe it would be of great interest to further carry out research on the recent shift of support. While carrying out this research in April 2024; for the first time since becoming the leading political party, AKP was unsuccessful at winning the majority votes in the local elections, making CHP the political party in charge of the majority of the 81 cities of Turkey. This shift in Turkish politics and the voters' behavior could be of interest to future research in the field, especially with attention to the potential role of female voters. What are the factors behind this sudden shift?

### References

Ahmadi, A. (2012, June 1). Turkey PM Erdoğan sparks row over abortion. *BBC*. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-18297760

Akboga, S. (2020, June). Türkiye Siyasi ve Toplumsal Hayatında Başörtüsünün Değişen

Anlamları [The Varying Meanings of Headscarf in Turkish Political and Social Life].

Liberal. https://doi.org/10.36484/liberal.692152

Aksoy, H. A. (2021, March 29). What lies behind Turkey's withdrawal from the Istanbul Convention?. *Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik*. https://www.swp-

- berlin.org/publikation/what-lies-behind-turkeys-withdrawal-from-the-istanbul-convention
- Al Jazeera Türk (2013, December 30). Türkiye'de başörtüsü yasağı: Nasıl başladı, nasıl çözüldü?. *Al Jazeera*. https://www.aljazeera.com.tr/dosya/turkiyede-basortusu-yasaginasil-basladi-nasil-cozuldu
- Al Jazeera. (2016, July 16). Timeline: A history of Turkish coups. *Al Jazeera*. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2016/7/16/timeline-a-history-of-turkish-coups
- Al Jazeera. (2023, May 18). Parliamentary and Presidential Elections in Turkey: Results and Prospects in the Runoff. *Al Jazeera*. https://studies.aljazeera.net/en/policybriefs/parliamentary-and-presidential-elections-turkey-results-and-prospects-runoff
- ALMOND, G. A., & VERBA, S. (1963). The Civic Culture: Political Attitudes and

  Democracy in Five Nations. Princeton University Press.

  http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt183pnr2
- Altındal, Y. (2007). Kadının siyasal katılımı bağlamında partilerin kadın kollarının sosyolojik açıdan değerlendirilmesi [Sociological evaluation of women's branches of political parties in the context of women's political participation]. (Master's thesis, Adnan Menderes University, Social Sciences Institute, Sociology Department, Turkey).
- Alwin, Duane F., and Jon A. Krosnick. 1991. "Aging, Cohorts and the Stability of Sociopolitical Orientations over the Life Span." *American Journal of Sociology*, 97 (1): 169–195.
- Arat, Y. (1998). Feminists, Islamists, and Political Change in Turkey. *Political Psychology*, 19(1), 117–131. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3792117
- Arat, Y. (2022). Democratic backsliding and the instrumentalization of women's rights in Turkey. *Politics & Gender*, 18, 911–941.

- Aslan, S. (2021). Public Tears: Populism and the Politics of Emotion in AKP's Turkey. *International Journal of Middle East Studies*, 53(1), 1-17.

  https://doi.org/10.1017/S0020743820000859
- Ayata, A. G., & Tütüncü, F. (2008). Party politics of the AKP (2002-2007) and the predicaments of women at the intersection of the Westernist, Islamist and feminist discourses in Turkey. *British Journal of Middle Eastern Studies*, 35(3), 363-384.

  Taylor & Francis, Ltd. https://www.jstor.org/stable/20455616
- Bayhan, B. B. (2023, June 1). Erdoğan, ultranationalists and 'family values'. *Social Europe*. https://www.socialeurope.eu/Erdoğan-ultranationalists-and-family-values
- BBC News. (2015, February 17). Erdoğan: Feministlerin dinimizle ilgisi yok. *BBC News*. https://www.bbc.com/turkce/haberler/2015/02/150217\_Erdoğan\_feministler
- BBC. (2023, May 28). Erdoğan: Turkey's all-powerful leader of 20 years. *BBC News*. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-13746679
- Beck, P. A., & Jennings, M. K. (1982). Pathways to participation. *American Political Science Review*, 76(1), 94–108.
- Benli, F. (2011). 1964-2011. Türkiye'de Ve Dünyada Başörtüsüyasaği Kronolojisi, *Mazlumder*.
- Bianet. (2016). Media ownership monitor Turkey. *Bianet*. https://turkey.mom-rsf.org/en/media/
- Bilgiç, E. E. (2020). The image of Turkish women as the antithesis of the Ottoman past:

  Representations of women in the newspapers of the early Republican era. *International Journal of Communication*, 14, 5463–5481.

- Binnet, P. A. (2015). My wife, my choice: Reproductive policymaking and social control in Turkey (Doctoral dissertation, University of Minnesota). *University of Minnesota Digital Conservancy*. http://hdl.handle.net/11299/175432
- Braun, Virginia, et al. "The Online Survey as a Qualitative Research Tool." *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, vol. 24, no. 6, 2021, pp. 641–54, https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1805550
- Bryman, A. (2012). Social research methods (4th ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Çağliyan-İçener, Z. (2009). The Justice and Development Party's Conception of "Conservative Democracy": Invention or Reinterpretation? *Turkish Studies*, 10(4), 595–612. https://doi.org/10.1080/14683840903384851
- Çaha, H. & Bayyurt, N. (2021, November 30). Determination of Women Voting Behavior: A

  Machine Learning Approach in the Turkish Political Arena. *International and*Multidisciplinary Journal of Social Sciences, 9(3), 260-288.

  doi:10.17583/rimcis.2020.5027
- Cambridge. (n.d.). Feminism. *Cambridge Dictionary*. https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/feminism
- Campbell, A., Converse, P., Miller, W., & Stokes, D. (1960). *The American voter*. University of Chicago Press.
- Campbell, D. E. (2009). Civic engagement and education: An empirical test of the sorting model. *American Journal of Political Science*, 53(4), 771–786.
- Çavdar, G. (2022). Why women support conservative parties: The case of Turkey. *Political Science Quarterly*, 137(1), 4. https://doi.org/10.1002/polq.13279
- Çay, F., & Kalkamanova, A. (2023). Measuring populist discourse of Recep Tayyip Erdoğan:

  A quantitative content analysis. *POLITIKON: The IAPSS Journal of Political Science*,

  55. https://doi.org/10.22151/politikon.55.1

- Çınar, M. (2018). From moderation to de-moderation: Democratic backsliding of the AKP in Turkey. The politics of Islamism: Diverging visions and trajectories, 127-157.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2022). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (6th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Daily Sabah. (2021, February 28). Turkey marks 24 years since Feb. 28 post-modern coup.

  \*Daily Sabah\*. https://www.dailysabah.com/politics/turkey-marks-24-years-since-feb-28-post-modern-coup/news
- Dalay, G. & Toremark, L. (2024, May 23). Democracy in Turkey. *Chatham House*. https://www.chathamhouse.org/2024/05/democracy-turkey
- Demirden, A. (2021). The Critical Examination Of Social Identity Theory. 2021.
- Dirini, I. (n.d.). Türkiye'de eğitim kurumlarında başörtüsü yasağı. *Fikir Takip*. https://fikritakip.co/turkiyede-egitim-kurumlarında-basortusu-yasagi/
- Duran, H. & Öztürk, H. (2019, March 13). People's Alliance vs. Nation Alliance: Electoral campaigns and strategies. *Seta*. https://www.setav.org/en/peoples-alliance-vs-nationalliance-electoral-campaigns-and-strategies/
- DW. (2007, April 29). In support of secularism. DW. https://p.dw.com/p/AKPJ
- Easton, D., & Dennis, J. (1969). Children in the political system: Origins of political legitimacy. McGraw-Hill.
- Ensonhaber. (2023, April 22). Halk TV'ye konuk olan Şeyda Taluk'tan skandal sözler: AK

  Parti'ye oy veren kadın seçmen eğitimsiz. *Ensonhaber*.

  https://www.ensonhaber.com/gundem/halk-tvye-konuk-olan-seyda-taluktan-skandal-sozler-ak-partiye-oy-veren-kadin-secmen-egitim
- Erdemandi, M. (2020, August 6). The Republican People's Party (CHP) is Complicit in the Erosion of Democracy in Turkey. *Georgetown Journal of International Affairs*.

- https://gjia.georgetown.edu/2020/08/06/the-republican-peoples-party-chp-is-complicit-in-the-erosion-of-democracy-in-turkey/
- Ergül, C. (2018, May 28). Kadın milletvekillerinin temsil oranı arttı. Anadolu Ajansı.
- EUR-Lex. (n.d.). Accession criteria (Copenhagen criteria). *EUR-Lex*. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/EN/legal-content/glossary/accession-criteria-copenhagen-criteria.html
- Evrensel. (2018). Seçim İttifakı Düzenlemesi. *Evrensel*. https://www.evrensel.net/secimittifaki/
- Fidrmuc, J. & Tunalı, Ç. B. (2016, December). The Female Vote and the Rise of AKP in Turkey.
- Fiorina, Morris P. 1981. *Retrospective Voting in American National Elections*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Fodouop Kouam, A. W. (2024). Interpretivism or constructivism: Navigating research paradigms in social science research. *International Journal of Research Paradigms*, 143(1), 134-138. https://doi.org/10.47119/IJRP1001431220246122
- Goff-Taylor, M. (2017). The shifting drivers of the AKP's EU policy. *Occasional Paper Series, Summer 2017*. Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars.
- Greene, S. (2004). Social Identity Theory and Party Identification. *Social Science Quarterly*, 85(1), 136–153. http://www.jstor.org/stable/42955932
- Gül, A. (n.d.). Biography. *Abdullah Gül*.

  http://www.abdullahgul.gen.tr/pages/president/biography/
- Gülel, D. (2020). Patterns of misogyny in Turkey's contemporary political discourse: An analysis of the presidential speeches. *Nuovi Autoritarismi e Democrazie: Diritto, Istituzioni, Società*, 1, 2. https://doi.org/10.2612-6672.2020

- Gündem, F. (2023). Beliefs, economics, and spatial regimes in voting behavior: The Turkish case, 2007–2018. *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications*, 10(105). https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-023-01584-3
- Harvard. (n.d.). Kemalism. *Harvard Divinity School*. https://rpl.hds.harvard.edu/faq/kemalism
- Harwood, J. (2020). Social Identity Theory. In *The International Encyclopedia of Media Psychology*, J. Bulck (Ed.). https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119011071.iemp0153
- Holsti, O. (1976). Foreign policy viewed cognitively. In R. Axelrod (Ed.), *The structure of decision*. Princeton University Press.
- HRW. (2022, May 26). Interview: How Turkey's Failure to Protect Women Can Cost Them Their Lives. *Human Rights Watch*. https://www.hrw.org/news/2022/05/26/interview-how-turkeys-failure-protect-women-can-cost-them-their-lives
- Huddy, L., Bankert, A., & Davies, C. (2018). Expressive Versus Instrumental Partisanship in
   Multiparty European Systems. *Political Psychology*, 39, 173–199.
   https://www.jstor.org/stable/48756037
- Human Rights Careers. (n.d.). Types of Feminism: The Four Waves. *Human Rights Career*. https://www.humanrightscareers.com/issues/types-of-feminism-the-four-waves/
- Hürriyet. (2023, June 1). Millet İttifakı bitti! İYİ Partili Poyraz ve Paçacı'dan açıklama:

  Seçim bitti, ittifak tamamlandı.Hürriyet. https://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/iyipartili-ugur-poyraz-secim-bitti-ittifak-tamamlandi-42277020
- Ibrahim, A. (2022, July 15). What was Turkey's failed coup about and what's happened since? *Al Jazeera*.. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/7/15/turkeys-failed-coupattempt-explainer

- Isele, A. (2023, May, 16). 'The polarisation of Turkey into two camps continues'. *IPS Journal*. https://www.ips-journal.eu/interviews/the-polarisation-of-turkey-into-two-camps-continues-6703/
- Jones, D. (2009, November 1). Turkey's Parliament Eases Ban on Islamic Head Scarves at Universities. *VOA News*. https://www.voanews.com/a/a-13-2008-02-09-voa3/344754.html
- Kadının İnsan Hakları. (2018). Re/forming the Penal Code in Turkey from a Gender

  Perspective: The case of a successful Campaign. https://kadinininsanhaklari.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/IDS-TCK-Pinar-makale.pdf
- Keyder, Ç. (1997). Whither the Project of Modernity?: Turkey in the 1990s. In S. Bozdogan & R. Kasaba (Eds.), *Rethinking Modernity and National Identity in Turkey* (pp. 37–51). University of Washington Press. http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctvcwnnwt.7
- Kocatürk, U. (1988). Atatürk's reforms and modernization. Research Article, V(13), 107-126.
- Kutlu, D. (2018). Sosyal Yardım Alanlar: Emek, Geçim, Siyaset ve Toplumsal Cinsiyet. İletişim Yayınları.
- Larson, D. W. (2017). Social identity theory: Status and identity in international relations.

  Oxford Research Encyclopedia of International Studies.

  https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228637.013.290
- Laws Turkey. (n.d.). 6284 Law to Protect Family and Prevent Violence against Woman.

  http://www.lawsturkey.com/law/law-to-protect-family-and-prevent-violence-against-woman-6284
- Le Monde. (2024, May 27). Erdoğan's resounding defeat in Turkey's local elections. *Le Monde*. https://www.lemonde.fr/en/international/article/2024/04/02/Erdoğan-sresounding-defeat-in-turkey-s-local-elections\_6667142\_4.html

- Letsch, C. & Traynor, I. (2015, June 8). Turkey election: ruling party loses majority as pro-Kurdish HDP gains seats. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/jun/07/turkey-election-preliminary-results-Erdoğan-akp-party
- Lodders, V. & Weldon, S. (2019, August 12). Why Do Women Vote Radical Right?

  Benevolent Sexism, Representation and Inclusion in Four Countries.
- Marsh, D. (1971). Political socialization: The implicit assumptions questioned. *British Journal of Political Science*, 1(4), 453-465. Cambridge University Press.
- Merriam-Webster. (n.d.). Feminism. In *Merriam-Webster.com dictionary*. Retrieved May 28, 2024, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/feminism
- Moghadam, V. M. (2018). Gendering the new right-wing populisms: A research note. *Journal of World-Systems Research*, 24(2). https://doi.org/10.5195/jwsr.2018.853
- Neundorf, A., & Smets, K. (2015). Political socialization and the making of citizens. In *Oxford handbook topics in politics* (online ed.). Oxford Academic. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199935307.013.9
- Niemi, R. G., & Hepburn, M. A. (1995). The Rebirth of Political Socialization. *Perspectives on Political Science*, 24(1), 7–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/10457097.1995.9941860
- Osterlund, P. B. (2022, May 14). As Turkey's economic crisis grows, politicians spar over refugees. *Al Jazeera*. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/5/14/as-turkeys-economic-crisis-grows-politicians-spar-over-refugees
- Perger, A. (2023, June 1.). The six arrows of Atatürkism, with special reference to the equal rights of women. *Faculty of Law, University of Debrecen*. https://doi.org/10.28946/scls.v1i1.2768

- Priya, A. (2021). Case study methodology of qualitative research: Key attributes and navigating the conundrums in its application. *Sociological Bulletin*, 70(1), 94–110. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038022920970318
- Rabasa, A. & Larrabee, F. S. (2008). The AKP in Power. *The Rise of Political Islam in Turkey*. http://www.jstor.com/stable/10.7249/mg726osd.11
- Republic of Turkey. (1982, November 9). *Constitution of the Republic of Turkey*. Resmî

  Gazete.https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/mevzuat?MevzuatNo=2709&MevzuatTur=1&Me
  vzuatTertip=5
- Reuters. (n.d.). Erdoğan defends adultery-law change. *Al Jazeera*.

  https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2004/9/4/Erdoğan-defends-adultery-law-change
- Rothschild, T. (n.d.). *Rothschild's introduction to sociology*. Pressbooks. https://rwu.pressbooks.pub/rothschildsintrotosociology/
- Roznai, Y. & Yolcu, S. (2012, January). An unconstitutional constitutional amendment—The Turkish perspective: A comment on the Turkish Constitutional Court's headscarf decision. *International Journal of Constitutional Law*, Volume 10, Issue 1, Pages 175-207, https://doi.org/10.1093/icon/mos007
- Sarac, N. (2018, July 10). Türkiye'nin yeni yönetim sistemi hakkında bilmek istediğiniz her şey. *Euronews*. https://www.euronews.com/2018/07/10/turkiye-nin-yeni-yonetim-sistemi-hakkinda-bilmek-istediginiz-her-sey
- Saunders, Mark & Lewis, P. & Thornhill, A.. (2009). Understanding research philosophies and approaches. *Research Methods for Business Students*. 4. 106-135.
- SCF (2021, April 1). AKP deputy says women are also to blame for male violence and femicide. *Stockholm center for Freedom*. https://stockholmcf.org/akp-deputy-says-women-are-also-to-blame-for-male-violence-and-femicide/

- Selvi, A. (2021, March 23). AK Parti hakkında iki kapatma davası açılmıştı. *Hurriyet*. https://www.hurriyet.com.tr/yazarlar/abdulkadir-selvi/ak-parti-hakkinda-iki-kapatma-davasi-acilmisti-41769380
- Sengupta, K. (2017, March 6). Turkey considers relaxing rules on hair in armed forces, sparking concerns over creeping Islamisation of military. *The Independent*. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/europe/turkey-military-president-Erdoğan-armed-forces-hair-beards-headscarves-a7614811.html
- Shaw, S. J., & Shaw, E. K. (1977). The Turkish War for Independence, 1918–1923. In *History of the Ottoman Empire and Modern Turkey* (pp. 340–372). chapter, Cambridge:

  Cambridge University Press.
- Stelgias, N. (2015). Turkey's hybrid competitive authoritarian regime: A genuine product of Anatolia's middle class. *The Levantine Review*, 4(2), 1-20.
- Stets, J. E., & Burke, P. J. (2000). Identity Theory and Social Identity Theory. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 63(3), 224–237. https://doi.org/10.2307/2695870
- Tahancı, F. (2024, May 26). Eyt Şartlari, Kademeli Emeklilik Eyt, Bağkur, Erken Emeklilik Son Dakika. *Tahancı*. https://www.tahanci.av.tr/eyt/
- Tajfel, H., & Turner, J. C. (1979). An integrative theory of intergroup conflict. In S. Worchel& W. G. Austin (Eds.), *The social psychology of intergroup relations* (pp. 33-47).Monterey, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Taşpınar, Ö. (2012, April 25). Turkey: The new model?. *Brookings*. https://www.brookings.edu/articles/turkey-the-new-model/
- Tekin, E., & Sezer Şanlı, A. (2023). Political violence: An evaluation of Turkey's 1970s and 1990s. *Journal of Academic Researches and Studies*, 15(29), 237-251. https://doi.org/10.20990/kilisiibfakademik.1316668

- Temiz, D., & Gokmen, A. (2009). The 2000-2001 financial crisis in Turkey and the global economic crisis of 2008-2009: Reasons and comparisons. *International Journal of Social Sciences and Humanity Studies*, 1(1).
  - http://www.sobiad.org/eJOURNALS/journal\_IJSS/arhieves/2009\_1/dilek\_temiz.pdf
- Tombuş, E. (n.d.). Autocracy behind a democratic facade: The political regime in Turkey. *Institut für Sozialwissenschaften, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin.*
- Tremblay, P. (2014, October 20). On the Margins: Secular Human Rights in Turkey. *Bianet*. https://bianet.org/haber/on-the-margins-secular-human-rights-in-turkey-159301
- Türkiye Büyük Millet Meclisi. (n.d.). 28. DÖNEM MİLLETVEKİLLERİ SANDALYE DAĞILIMI.
  - https://www.tbmm.gov.tr/sandalyedagilimi?TSPD\_101\_R0=08ffcef486ab2000777914 bda223db463faebea77bf3522f80863a25326fee8fb9077355841fa4dc0873cd5d011430 00fa8859f76cca22d9d8a7085ea9ad7f8557bc014201394c0dc77eb2b88c05618de6ce50 2759143974f6a923c34df53f7f
- Turkish Minute. (2023, May 3). State media gave 85 times more coverage to Erdoğan's alliance than the opposition in April. *Turkish Minute*.

  https://www.turkishminute.com/2023/05/03/state-media-gave-85-times-more-coverage-to-Erdoğan-alliance-than-the-opposition-in-april/
- Unal, D. (2023, May 11). The threats and possibilities awaiting the gender-equal democracy in Turkey after the 2023 general elections. *London School of Economics and Political Sciencehttps:*//blogs.lse.ac.uk/gender/2023/05/11/the-threats-and-possibilities-awaiting-the-gender-equal-democracy-in-turkey-after-the-2023-general-elections/
- Uncu, B.A. (2018, May). Konda Seçmen Kümeleri. https://konda.com.tr/uploads/konda-secmenkumeleri-akparti-secmenleri-mayis2018-f3848f8d2137abf61eb8f9d2ab392e27a01c13f29fc7a5334ee3cc1336fd753c.pdf

- Uras, U. (2019, April 2). Erdoğan's AK Party 'loses' major Turkey cities in local elections. *Al Jazeera*. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/4/2/Erdoğans-ak-party-loses-major-turkey-cities-in-local-elections
- White, J. B. (2003). State feminism, modernization, and the Turkish republican woman. *NWSA Journal*, 15(3), 145-159. The Johns Hopkins University Press. https://www.jstor.org/stable/4317014
- Worley, D. (2021). Tajfel and Turner intergroup conflict theories 1997. *ResearchGate*. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.30820.60809
- Yalçın, A. T. (n.d.). The AKP Era: The Troubled Relationship Between Misogyny and the Istanbul Convention. *Polemics Magazine*. https://www.polemics-magazine.com/europe/the-akp-era-the-troubled-relationship-between-misogyny-and-the-istanbul-convention
- Yaraş, S. (2019). The making of the 'new' patriarch in women's self- narrations of political empowerment: the case of local female AKP politicians in the aftermath of 2009 elections, *Turkish Studies*, 20:2, 273-296, DOI: 10.1080/14683849.2018.1543026
- Yeşilada, B. A. (2023). The AKP, religion, and political values in contemporary Turkey: Implications for the future of democracy. Turkish Studies, 24(3-4), 593-616. https://doi.org/10.1080/14683849.2023.2186784
- Zambrana, M. (2021, September 1). Turkey takes a step backwards on violence against women. *Equal Times*. https://www.equaltimes.org/turkey-takes-a-step-backwards-on